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Normanby School

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2022 2021

Notes Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Revenue

Government Grants 2 1,774,121      1,471,422      1,568,244      

Locally Raised Funds 3 76,370           61,550           74,587           

Interest Income 7,193             1,000             2,975             

Gain on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 358,623         -                 -                 

Other Revenue -                 -                 4,382             

2,216,307      1,533,972      1,650,188      

Expenses

Locally Raised Funds 3 60,747           59,872           64,662           

Learning Resources 4 1,212,217      1,173,897      1,161,644      

Administration 5 268,637         98,761           202,840         

Finance 1,324             633                1,527             

Property 6 347,703         288,774         208,325         

1,890,628      1,621,937      1,638,998      

Net Surplus / (Deficit) for the year 325,679         (87,965)          11,190           

Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense -                 -                 -                 

Total Comprehensive Revenue and Expense for the Year 325,679         (87,965)          11,190           

The above Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes which 

form part of these financial statements.
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Normanby School

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2022 2021

Notes Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Equity at 1 January 608,380         505,913         592,977         

Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year 325,679         (87,965)          11,190           

Contributions from the Ministry of Education

Contribution - Furniture and Equipment Grant -                 -                 4,213             

Sale of School House (430,026)        -                 -                 

Equity at 31 December 504,033         417,948         608,380         

Accumulated comprehensive revenue and expense 504,033         417,948         608,380         

Equity at 31 December 504,033         417,948         608,380         

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes which form part 

of these financial statements.
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Normanby School

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December  2022

2022 2022 2021

Notes Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7 255,260         110,697         238,049         

Accounts Receivable 8 78,685           69,411           85,825           

GST Receivable 10,001           -                 5,920             

Prepayments 9,169             7,339             8,722             

Inventories 9 3,699             2,313             753                

Investments 10 86,000           86,000           86,000           

Funds Receivable for Capital Works Projects 16 -                 -                 3,939             

442,814         275,760         429,208         

Current Liabilities

GST Payable -                 2,476             -                 

Accounts Payable 12 96,659           107,851         110,069         

Revenue Received in Advance 13 4,690             663                1,420             

Provision for Cyclical Maintenance 14 -                 19,277           -                 

Finance Lease Liability 15 5,816             5,829             4,846             

Funds held for Capital Works Projects 16 26,276           -                 -                 

133,441         136,096         116,335         

Working Capital Surplus/(Deficit) 309,373         139,664         312,873         

Non-current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 11 221,813         283,180         297,508         

221,813         283,180         297,508         

Non-current Liabilities

Provision for Cyclical Maintenance 14 21,910           -                 -                 

Finance Lease Liability 15 5,243             4,896             2,001             

27,153           4,896             2,001             

Net Assets 504,033         417,948         608,380         

Equity 504,033         417,948         608,380         

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes which form part of these 

financial statements.
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Normanby School

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2022 2021

Note Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual
$ $ $

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Government Grants 546,560         478,839         477,675         

Locally Raised Funds 74,263           61,550           79,726           

Goods and Services Tax (net) (4,081)            -                 (8,396)            

Payments to Employees (385,837)        (365,441)        (383,184)        

Payments to Suppliers (215,892)        (419,805)        (213,916)        

Interest Paid (1,324)            (633)               (1,527)            

Interest Received 3,396             1,000             4,339             

Net cash from/(to) Operating Activities 17,085           (244,490)        (45,283)          

Cash flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from Sale of Property Plant & Equipment (and Intangibles) 430,243         -                 -                 

Purchase of Property Plant & Equipment (and Intangibles) (25,061)          (14,000)          (9,981)            

Net cash from/(to) Investing Activities 405,182         (14,000)          (9,981)            

Cash flows from Financing Activities

Furniture and Equipment Grant -                 -                 4,213             

Owners Contributions (430,026)        -                 -                 

Finance Lease Payments (5,245)            (5,276)            (4,174)            

Funds Administered on Behalf of Third Parties 30,215           -                 (81,189)          

Net cash from/(to) Financing Activities (405,056)        (5,276)            (81,150)          

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 17,211           (263,766)        (136,414)        

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7 238,049         374,463         374,463         

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 255,260         110,697         238,049         

The Statement of Cash Flows records only those cash flows directly within the control of the School.  This means centrally funded 

teachers' salaries and the use of land and buildings grant and expense have been excluded.

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes which form part of these financial 

statements.
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Normanby School 500

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

1.   Statement of Accounting Policies

a) Reporting Entity

b) Basis of Preparation

Reporting Period

Basis of Preparation

Financial Reporting Standards Applied

PBE Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime

Measurement Base

Presentation Currency

Specific Accounting Policies

Critical Accounting Estimates And Assumptions

Cyclical maintenance

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis unless otherwise noted in a specific accounting policy.

The School qualifies for Tier 2 as the school is not publicly accountable and is not considered large as it falls below the expense 

threshold of $30 million per year. All relevant reduced disclosure concessions have been taken.

Normanby School (the School) is a Crown entity as specified in the Crown Entities Act 2004 and a school as described in the 

Education and Training Act 2020. The Board is of the view that the School is a public benefit entity for financial reporting 

purposes.

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars, rounded to the nearest dollar.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the accounting policies have been consistently 

applied throughout the period.

The financial statements have been prepared for the period 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 and in accordance 

with the requirements of the Education and Training Act 2020.

The Education and Training Act 2020 requires the School, as a Crown entity, to prepare financial statements in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting practice. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting practice in New Zealand, applying Public Sector Public Benefit Entity (PBE) Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime 

as appropriate to public benefit entities that qualify for Tier 2 reporting. The school is considered a Public Benefit Entity as it 

meets the criteria specified as 'having a primary objective to provide goods and/or services for community or social benefit and 

where any equity has been provided with a view to supporting that primary objective rather than for financial return to equity 

holders'. 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 

application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates. 

  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 

the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

A school recognises its obligation to maintain the Ministry’s buildings in a good state of repair as a provision for cyclical 

maintenance. This provision relates mainly to the painting of the school buildings. The estimate is based on the school’s best 

estimate of the cost of painting the school and when the school is required to be painted, based on an assessment of the 

school’s condition. During the year, the Board assesses the reasonableness of its painting maintenance plan on which the 

provision is based. Cyclical maintenance is disclosed at note 14.
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Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Critical Judgements in applying accounting policies

Management has exercised the following critical judgements in applying accounting policies:

Classification of leases

Recognition of grants

c) Revenue Recognition

Government Grants

Other Grants where conditions exist

Donations, Gifts and Bequests

Donations, gifts and bequests are recognised as an asset and revenue when the right to receive funding or the asset has been 

established unless there is an obligation to return funds if conditions are not met. If conditions are not met funding is recognised 

as revenue in advance and recognised as revenue when conditions are satisfied.

The school receives funding from the Ministry of Education. The following are the main types of funding that the School receives.

Operational grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding, which is in the year that the funding is 

received. 

Teachers salaries grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding in the salary period they relate 

to. The grants are not received in cash by the School and are paid directly to teachers by the Ministry of Education. 

Other Ministry Grants for directly funded programs are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding in the 

period they relate to. The grants are not received in cash by the School and are paid directly by the Ministry of Education.

Determining whether a lease is a finance lease or an operating lease requires judgement as to whether the lease transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the school.  A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 

substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee. In contrast, an operating lease is a 

lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee. Judgement is 

required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the leased asset, the economic life of the leased 

asset, whether or not to include renewal options in the lease term, and determining an appropriate discount rate to calculate the 

present value of the minimum lease payments. Classification as a finance lease means the asset is recognised in the statement 

of financial position as property, plant, and equipment, whereas for an operating lease no such asset is recognised. Finance 

lease liability disclosures are contained in note 15. Future operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 21b. 

Other grants are recorded as revenue when the School has the rights to the funding, unless there are unfulfilled conditions 

attached to the grant, in which case the amount relating to the unfulfilled conditions is recognised as a liability and released to 

revenue as the conditions are fulfilled. 

The School reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each reporting date. The School 

believes that the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment as disclosed in the significant accounting policies are 

appropriate to the nature of the property, plant and equipment at reporting date. Property, plant and equipment is disclosed at 

note 11.

The property from which the School operates is owned by the Crown and managed by the Ministry of Education on behalf of the 

Crown.  Grants for the use of land and buildings are not received in cash by the School as they equate to the deemed expense 

for using the land and buildings which are owned by the Crown. The School’s use of the land and buildings as occupant is based 

on a property occupancy document as gazetted by the Ministry. The expense is based on an assumed market rental yield on the 

value of land and buildings as used for rating purposes. 

This is a non-cash revenue that is offset by a non-cash expense. The use of land and buildings grants and associated 

expenditure are recorded in the period the School uses the land and buildings.

The School reviews the grants monies received at the end of each reporting period and whether any require a provision to carry 

forward amounts unspent. The School believes all grants received have been appropriately recognised as a liability if required. 

Government grants are disclosed at note 2.
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Interest Revenue

d) Operating Lease Payments

e) Finance Lease Payments 

f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

g) Accounts Receivable

h) Inventories

i) Investments

j) Property, Plant and Equipment

Finance Leases

Improvements (funded by the Board) to buildings owned by the Crown or directly by the board are recorded at cost, less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. Interest is subsequently accrued and added to the investment 

balance. A loss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised if the estimated loss allowance is not trivial.

Inventories are consumable items held for sale and comprised of stationery and school uniforms.  They are stated at the lower of 

cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of activities less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Any write down from cost to net realisable 

value is recorded as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense in the period of the write down. 

Gains and losses on disposals (i.e. sold or given away) are determined by comparing the proceeds received with the carrying 

amounts (i.e. the book value). The gain or loss arising from the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

Land and buildings owned by the Crown are excluded from these financial statements.  The Board’s use of the land and buildings 

as ‘occupant’ is based on a property occupancy document.  

Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less an allowance for expected credit losses (uncollectable debts). The 

schools receivables are largely made up of funding from the Ministry of Education, therefore the level of uncollectable debts is not 

considered to be material. However, short-term receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

A finance lease transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset, whether or not 

title is eventually transferred. At the start of the lease term, finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 

Statement of Financial Position at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate 

of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there 

is no reasonable certainty whether the school will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated 

over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost or, in the case of donated assets, fair value at the date of receipt, less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost or fair value as the case may be, includes those costs that relate directly 

to bringing the asset to the location where it will be used and making sure it is in the appropriate condition for its intended use.

Finance lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 

charge is allocated to each period during the lease term on an effective interest basis.

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense on a straight 

line basis over the term of the lease.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balances, deposits held at call with banks, and other short term highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less, and bank overdrafts.  The carrying amount of cash and cash 

equivalents represent fair value.

Interest Revenue earned on cash and cash equivalents and investments is recorded as revenue in the period it is earned.
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Depreciation 

The estimated useful lives of the assets are:

Building Improvements        20 years

Buildings        50 years

Furniture and Equipment      5-10 years

Motor Vehicles         5 years

Library Resources         8 years

Leased assets held under a Finance Lease Term of Lease

k) Intangible Assets

Software costs

l) Impairment of property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets

m) Accounts Payable

The school does not hold any cash generating assets. Assets are considered cash generating where their primary objective is to 

generate a commercial return. 

Non cash generating assets

Property, plant, and equipment and intangible assets held at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  If such indication 

exists, the School estimates the asset's recoverable service amount. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 

the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount. The recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s 

fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost 

approach, or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach used to measure value in use depends on the nature of 

the impairment and availability of information.

In determining fair value less costs to sell the school engages an independent valuer to assess market value based on the best 

available information. The valuation is based on a comparison to recent market transactions. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying amount 

is written down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last 

impairment loss was recognised.  

Accounts Payable represents liabilities for goods and services provided to the School prior to the end of the financial year which 

are unpaid.  Accounts Payable are recorded at the amount of cash required to settle those liabilities. The amounts are unsecured 

and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

The carrying value of software is amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life.  The useful life of software is estimated as 

three years.  The amortisation charge for each period and any impairment loss is recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Revenue and Expense. 

Computer software acquired by the School are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 

specific software. Costs associated with subsequent maintenance and research expenditure are recognised as an expense in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense when incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight line basis.  Depreciation of all assets 

is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.
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n) Employee Entitlements

Short-term employee entitlements

Long-term employee entitlements

o) Revenue Received in Advance

p) Funds Held in Trust 

q) Funds held for Capital works

r) Shared Funds 

Employee entitlements that are expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the 

employees provide the related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include 

salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned, by non teaching staff, to but not yet taken at balance date.

The School holds sufficient funds to enable the refund of unearned fees in relation to students, should the School be unable to 

provide the services to which they relate.

Employee benefits that are not expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the reporting period in which the 

employee provides the related service, such as retirement and long service leave, have been calculated on an actuarial basis.

The calculations are based on the likely future entitlements accruing to employees, based on years of service, years to 

entitlement, the likelihood that employees will reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information, and the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows.  Remeasurements are recognised in surplus or deficit in the period in which 

they arise.

Revenue received in advance relates to fees received from students and grants received where there are unfulfilled obligations 

for the School to provide services in the future.  The fees are recorded as revenue as the obligations are fulfilled and the fees 

earned.  

Shared Funds are held on behalf of a cluster of participating schools as agreed with the Ministry of Education.  In instances 

where funds are outside of the School's control, these amounts are not recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue 

and Expense. In instances where the school is determined to be the principal for providing the service related to the Shared 

Funds (such as the RTLB programme), all income and expenditure related to the provision of the service is recorded in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. The School holds sufficient funds to enable the funds to be used for their 

intended purpose.

Funds are held in trust where they have been received by the School for a specified purpose, or are being held on behalf of a 

third party and these transactions are not recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

The School holds sufficient funds to enable the funds to be used for their intended purpose at any time.

The school directly receives funding from the Ministry of Education for capital works projects that are included in the School five 

year capital works agreement. These funds are held on behalf and for a specified purpose as such these transactions are not 

recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 

The School holds sufficient funds to enable the funds to be used for their intended purpose at any time.
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s) Provision for Cyclical Maintenance

t) Financial Instruments

u) Borrowings

v) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

w) Budget Figures 

x) Services received in-kind

From time to time the School receives services in-kind, including the time of volunteers. The School has elected not to recognise 

services received in kind in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 

The School’s financial liabilities comprise accounts payable, borrowings, finance lease liability, and painting contract liability. 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and any 

gain or loss on derecognition are recognised in surplus or deficit. 

The property from which the School operates is owned by the Crown, and is vested in the Ministry.  The Ministry has gazetted a 

property occupancy document that sets out the Board’s property maintenance responsibilities. The Board is responsible for 

maintaining the land, buildings and other facilities on the School site in a state of good order and repair.

Cyclical maintenance, which involves painting the interior and exterior of the School, makes up the most significant part of the 

Board’s responsibilities outside day-to-day maintenance. The provision is a reasonable estimate, based on the school’s best 

estimate of the cost of painting the school and when the school is required to be painted, based on an assessment of the 

school’s condition. 

The schools carries out painting maintenance of the whole school over a 7 to 10 year period, the economic outflow of this is 

dependent on the plan established by the school to meet this obligation and is detailed in the notes and disclosures of these 

accounts. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a GST exclusive basis, with the exception of accounts receivable and accounts 

payable which are stated as GST inclusive.

The net amount of GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is 

classified as a net operating cash flow in the statements of cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

The budget figures are extracted from the School budget that was approved by the Board. 

Investments that are shares are categorised as 'financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense' 

for accounting purposes in accordance with financial reporting standards. On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not 

held for trading, the School may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in other 

comprehensive revenue and expense. This election has been made for investments that are shares. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, these assets are measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in surplus or deficit unless the dividend 

clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other 

comprehensive revenue and expense and are never reclassified to surplus or deficit.

Borrowings on normal commercial terms are initially recognised at the amount borrowed plus transaction costs. Interest due on 

the borrowings is subsequently accrued and added to the borrowings balance. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 

unless the school has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after balance date. 

The School’s financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and investments. All of these financial 

assets, except for investments that are shares, are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 

cost, using the effective interest method. 

Page 11Normanby School Annual Report and Financial Statements



2.  Government Grants 24,600

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Government Grants - Ministry of Education 658,143       478,839       588,852       

Teachers' Salaries Grants 862,124       800,931       820,401       

Use of Land and Buildings Grants 230,086       191,652       158,991       

Other Government Grants 23,768         -               -               

1,774,121    1,471,422    1,568,244    

3.  Locally Raised Funds

Local funds raised within the School's community are made up of:

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

Revenue $ $ $

Donations & Bequests 6,543           1,000           1,914           

Fees for Extra Curricular Activities 19,302         9,400           13,687         

Trading 5,268           5,000           3,735           

Fundraising & Community Grants 5,863           3,750           11,926         

School House 17,711         23,400         23,350         

Mini Van 21,683         19,000         19,975         

76,370         61,550         74,587         

Expenses

Extra Curricular Activities Costs 17,754         13,400         17,556         

Trading 3,725           5,000           5,054           

School House 5,464           9,600           13,132         

Mini Van 33,804         31,872         28,920         

60,747         59,872         64,662         

Surplus for the year Locally raised funds 15,623         1,678           9,925           

4.  Learning Resources

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Curricular 26,093         32,150         15,089         

Library Resources 744              500              367              

Employee Benefits - Salaries 1,126,458    1,081,525    1,088,536    

Staff Development 12,777         20,000         13,960         

Depreciation 44,037         37,222         41,510         

Extra Curricular Activities 2,108           2,500           2,182           

1,212,217    1,173,897    1,161,644    

The school has opted in to the donations scheme for this year. Total amount received was $24,600.
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5.  Administration

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Audit Fee 4,493           4,493           4,362           

Board Fees 4,070           4,700           3,610           

Board Expenses 6,372           8,500           6,560           

Communication 2,489           2,800           2,570           

Consumables 7,907           7,000           7,724           

Other 15,034         11,460         15,540         

Employee Benefits - Salaries 60,445         43,392         39,656         

Insurance 5,642           5,476           5,338           

Service Providers, Contractors and Consultancy 10,850         10,940         9,430           

Healthy School Lunch Programme 151,335       -               108,050       

268,637       98,761         202,840       

6.  Property

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Caretaking and Cleaning Consumables 14,930         10,000         10,595         

Cyclical Maintenance Provision 21,910         9,267           (32,109)        

Grounds 3,850           7,500           5,878           

Heat, Light and Water 14,267         15,500         13,499         

Rates 648              900              618              

Repairs and Maintenance 16,331         11,000         7,692           

Use of Land and Buildings 230,086       191,652       158,991       

Security 2,050           1,500           1,655           

Employee Benefits - Salaries 43,631         41,455         41,506         

347,703       288,774       208,325       

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Bank Accounts 255,260       110,697       238,049       

255,260       110,697       238,049       

The use of land and buildings figure represents 5% of the school’s total property value. Property values are established as part of the 

nation-wide revaluation exercise that is conducted every 30 June for the Ministry of Education’s year-end reporting purposes. 

Of the $255,260 Cash and Cash Equivalents $26,276 is held by the School on behalf of the Ministry of Education.  These funds have 

been provided by the Ministry as part of the school's 5 Year Agreement funding for upgrades to the school's buildings. The funds are 

required to be spent in 2023 on Crown owned school buildings.

Cash and cash equivalents for Statement of Cash Flows

The carrying value of short-term deposits with original maturity dates of 90 days or less approximates their fair value.
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8. Accounts Receivable

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Receivables 110              60                60                

Banking Staffing Underuse -               -               17,125         

Interest Receivable 5,108           2,675           1,311           

Teacher Salaries Grant Receivable 73,467         66,676         67,329         

78,685         69,411         85,825         

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 5,218           2,735           1,371           

Receivables from Non-Exchange Transactions 73,467         66,676         84,454         

78,685         69,411         85,825         

9. Inventories

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Stationery 967              726              753              

Uniform Account 2,732           1,587           -               

3,699           2,313           753              

10. Investments

The School's investment activities are classified as follows:

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Current Asset

Short-term Bank Deposits 86,000         86,000         86,000         

Total Investments 86,000         86,000         86,000         
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11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Opening 

Balance 

(NBV) Additions Disposals Impairment Depreciation Total (NBV)

2022 $ $ $ $ $ $

Land 13,750         - (13,750) - - - 

Buildings 71,276         - (57,870) - (1,582) 11,824         

Building Improvements 126,000       - - - (9,597) 116,403       

Furniture and Equipment 61,345         25,564         - - (16,439) 70,470         

Information and Communication Technology 18,463         2,463 - - (9,022) 11,904         

Leased Assets 4,912 11,716         - - (6,952) 9,676 

Library Resources 1,762 219 - - (445) 1,536 

Balance at 31 December 2022 297,508       39,962         (71,620) - (44,037) 221,813       

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021

Cost or 

Valuation

Accumulated 

Depreciation

Net Book 

Value

Cost or 

Valuation

Accumulated 

Depreciation

Net Book 

Value

$ $ $ $ $ $

Land - - - 13,750         - 13,750 

Buildings 13,782         (1,958) 11,824         101,989       (30,713) 71,276 

Building Improvements 342,080       (225,677) 116,403       342,080       (216,080) 126,000       

Furniture and Equipment 420,412       (349,942) 70,470         400,210       (338,865) 61,345         

Information and Communication Technology 45,469         (33,565) 11,904         43,005         (24,542) 18,463         

Motor Vehicles 39,981         (39,981) - 39,981 (39,981) - 

Leased Assets 33,243         (23,567) 9,676 21,528         (16,616) 4,912 

Library Resources 29,726         (28,190) 1,536 29,507         (27,745) 1,762 

Balance at 31 December 924,693       (702,880) 221,813       992,050       (694,542) 297,508       

The net carrying value of equipment held under a finance lease is $9,676 (2021: $4,912)

Restrictions 

There are no restrictions over the title of the school's property, plant and equipment, nor are any property, plant and equipment 

pledged as security for liabilities.
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12. Accounts Payable

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Creditors 9,827           31,624         31,782         

Accruals 2,995           3,434           2,908           

Employee Entitlements - Salaries 73,467         66,676         67,329         

Employee Entitlements - Leave Accrual 10,370         6,117           8,050           

96,659         107,851       110,069       

Payables for Exchange Transactions 96,659         107,851       110,069       

Payables for Non-exchange Transactions - Taxes Payable (PAYE and Rates) -               -               -               

Payables for Non-exchange Transactions  - Other -               -               -               

96,659         107,851       110,069       

The carrying value of payables approximates their fair value.

13. Revenue Received in Advance

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Grants in Advance - Ministry of Education 4,198           -               -               

Other Revenue In Advance 492              663              1,420           

4,690           663              1,420           

14. Provision for Cyclical Maintenance

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Provision at the Start of the Year -               10,010         92,066         

Increase to the Provision During the Year 21,910         9,267           21,910         

Use of the Provision During the Year -               -               (59,957)        

Other Adjustments -               -               (54,019)        

Provision at the End of the Year 21,910         19,277         -               

Cyclical Maintenance - Current -               19,277         -               

Cyclical Maintenance - Non current 21,910         -               -               

21,910         19,277         -               

Per the cyclical maintenance schedule the school is next expected to undertake painting works during 2029. This plan is based on 

the schools 10 Year Property plan / painting quotes.
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15. Finance Lease Liability

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

No Later than One Year 6,552           5,829           5,479           

Later than One Year and no Later than Five Years 5,582           4,896           2,087           

Future Finance Charges (1,075)          -               (719)             

11,059         10,725         6,847           

Represented by

Finance lease liability - Current 5,816           5,829           4,846           

Finance lease liability - Non current 5,243           4,896           2,001           

11,059         10,725         6,847           

16. Funds Held (Owed) for Capital Works Projects

Opening Receipts Closing

2022 Project No. Balances from MoE Payments Balances

$ $ $ $

SIP New PE Shed 229065 (2,994)          2,994           - -               -               

Roofing Remediation 230025 (945)             27,776         (26,831) -               -               

Stormwater Remediation 230026 -               8,930           (8,930) -               -               

Rm 1 & 2 Refurbishment 230029 -               17,817         (10,846) -               6,971           

A E Floor & Wall Linings 230027 -               71,834         (52,529) -               19,305         

Totals (3,939)          129,351       (99,136) -               26,276         

Represented by:

Funds Held on Behalf of the Ministry of Education 26,276         

Funds Receivable from the Ministry of Education -               

Opening Receipts Closing

2021 Project No. Balances from MoE Payments Balances

$ $ $ $

SIP Permanent Shelters completed 45,617         4,185           (49,802) -               -               

SIP E: Heat Pumps completed 5,350           -               (5,350) -               -               

SIP A: Security System completed 9,033           -               (9,033) -               -               

LSPM Fences & Gates completed -               118,199       (118,199) -               -               

SIP New PE Shed 229065 -               26,937         (29,931) -               (2,994)          

Roofing Remediation 230025 -               -               (945) -               (945)             

Totals 60,000         149,321       (213,260) -               (3,939)          

Represented by:

Funds Held on Behalf of the Ministry of Education -               

Funds Receivable from the Ministry of Education (3,939)          

During the year the School received and applied funding from the Ministry of Education for the following capital works projects. The 

amount of cash held on behalf of the Ministry for capital works projects is included under cash and cash equivalents in note 7.

Board 

Contributions

Board 

Contributions

The School has entered into a number of finance lease agreements for computers and other ICT equipment.  Minimum lease 

payments payable:
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17. Related Party Transactions

18. Remuneration

Key management personnel compensation

2022 2021

Actual Actual

$ $

Board Members 6 N/A N/A

Remuneration 10 N/A N/A 4,070           3,610           

Leadership Team

Remuneration 339,083       133,297       

Full-time equivalent members 3.00             2.93             

Total key management personnel remuneration 343,153       136,907       

Principal 1

2022 2021

Actual Actual

Salaries and Other Short-term Employee Benefits: $000 $000

        Salary and Other Payments 130 - 140 120 - 130

        Benefits and Other Emoluments 3 - 4 3 - 4

        Termination Benefits - -

Other Employees

Remuneration 2022 2021

$000 FTE Number FTE Number

100 - 110 1.00 1.00

1.00 1.00

The disclosure for 'Other Employees' does not include remuneration of the Principal.  

The number of other employees with remuneration greater than $100,000 was in the following bands: 

Key management personnel of the School include all Board members, Principal, Deputy Principals and Heads of Departments.

There are 6 members of the Board excluding the Principal. The Board had held 10 full meetings of the Board in the year. The Board 

also has Finance (N/A members) and Property (N/A members) that met N/A and N/A times respectively. As well as these regular 

meetings, including preparation time, the Presiding Member and other Board members have also been involved in ad hoc meetings 

to consider student welfare matters including stand downs, suspensions, and other disciplinary matters. 

The total value of remuneration paid or payable to the Principal was in the following bands:   

The School is a controlled entity of the Crown, and the Crown provides the major source of revenue to the school. The school enters 

into transactions with other entities also controlled by the Crown, such as government departments, state-owned enterprises and 

other Crown entities. Transactions with these entities are not disclosed as they occur on terms and conditions no more or less 

favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the school would have adopted if dealing with that entity at arm’s length.

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal supplier or client/recipient 

relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect the school would have 

adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances. Further, transactions with other government agencies 

(for example, Government departments and Crown entities) are not disclosed as related party transactions when they are consistent 

with the normal operating arrangements between government agencies and undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for such 

transactions.
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19. Compensation and Other Benefits Upon Leaving

2022 2021

Actual Actual

Total - -

Number of People - -

20. Contingencies

21. Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments

In 2022 the Ministry of Education provided additional funding for both the Support Staff in Schools' Collective Agreement (CA) 

Settlement and the Teacher Aide Pay Equity Settlement.  The school is still yet to receive a final wash up that adjusts the estimated 

quarterly instalments for the actual teacher aides employed in 2022. 

The Ministry is in the Process of determining the amount of the final wash up payment for the year ended 31 December 2022. Even 

though the payment is probable, the amount to be received is not known with a high level of certainty. The school has therefore not 

recognised the expected receipt (asset) and income in its financial statements. The payment is expected to be received in July 2023.

As at 31 December 2022 the Board has entered into contract agreements for capital works as follows:

$0 contract for the Roofing Remediation as agent for the Ministry of Education. This project is fully funded by the Ministry and $0 has 

been received of which $945 has been spent on the project to balance date. This project has been approved by the Ministry.)

$80,893 contract for the A E Floor & Wall Linings as agent for the Ministry of Education. This project is fully funded by the Ministry 

and $71,834 has been received of which $52,529 has been spent on the project to balance date. This project has been approved by 

the Ministry.

$178,169 contract for the Rm 1 & 2 Refurbishment as agent for the Ministry of Education. This project is fully funded by the Ministry 

and $17,817 has been received of which $10,846 has been spent on the project to balance date. This project has been approved by 

the Ministry; and

(Capital commitments as at 31 December 2021:

$29,930 contract for the SIP New PE Shed as agent for the Ministry of Education. This project is fully funded by the Ministry and 

$26,937 has been received of which $29,931 has been spent on the project to balance date. This project has been approved by the 

Ministry; and

The Ministry of Education performs payroll processing and payments on behalf of boards, through payroll service provider Education 

Payroll Limited. 

The Ministry's review of the schools sector payroll to ensure compliance with the Holidays Act 2003 is ongoing. Final calculations 

and potential impact on any specific individual will not be known until further detailed analysis and solutions have been completed.

To the extent that any obligation cannot reasonably be quantified at 31 December 2022 a contingent liability for the school may exist.

Holidays Act Compliance – schools payroll

The total value of compensation or other benefits paid or payable to persons who ceased to be board members, committee 

members, or employees during the financial year in relation to that cessation and number of persons to whom all or part of that total 

was payable was as follows:

There are no contingent liabilities and no contingent assets (except as noted below) as at 31 December 2022 (Contingent liabilities 

and assets at 31 December 2021: nil).
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(b) Operating Commitments

22. Financial Instruments

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

2022 2022 2021

Actual

Budget 

(Unaudited) Actual

$ $ $

Cash and Cash Equivalents 255,260       110,697       238,049       

Receivables 78,685         69,411         85,825         

Investments - Term Deposits 86,000         86,000         86,000         

Total Financial assets measured at amortised cost         419,945         266,108         409,874 

Payables 96,659         107,851       110,069       

Finance Leases 11,059         10,725         6,847 

Total Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost         107,718         118,576         116,916 

23. Events After Balance Date

24. Comparatives

25. Credit Card Facility

The School operates a credit card facility with TSB Bank, the limit is $5,000 and as at balance date $894.57 was owing.

There are no operating commitments as at 31 December 2022 (Operating commitments at 31 December 2021: nil).

There were no significant events after the balance date that impact these financial statements.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:

There have been a number of prior period comparatives which have been reclassified to make disclosure consistent with the current 

year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE READERS OF NORMANBY SCHOOL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Normanby School (the School). The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, Cameron Town, using the staff and resources of Silks Audit Chartered Accountants 
Limited, to carry out the audit of the financial statements of the School on his behalf. 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the School on pages 2 to 20, that comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the statement of comprehensive revenue 
and expense, statement of changes in net assets/equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
ended on that date, and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

In our opinion the financial statements of the School: 

 present fairly, in all material respects:

o its financial position as at 31 December 2022; and

o its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

o comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance
with with Tier 2 PBE Accounting Standards (PBE IPSAS) Reduced Disclosure
Regime

Our audit was completed on 31 May 2023. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed. 

The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board 
and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements, we comment on other information, and 
we explain our independence. 

Basis for our opinion 

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing 
(New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor 
section of our report. 
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We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements  
 
The Board is responsible on behalf of the School for preparing financial statements that are fairly 
presented and that comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. The 
Board of Trustees is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable 
it to prepare financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible on behalf of the School for 
assessing the School’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Board is also responsible for 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting, unless there is an intention to close or merge the School, or there is no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
The Board’s responsibilities, in terms of the requirements of the Education and Training Act 2020, 
arise from section 87 of the Education Act 1989. 
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as a 
whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.  
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried 
out in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, 
and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 
For the budget information reported in the financial statements, our procedures were limited to 
checking that the information agreed to the School’s approved budget. 
 
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial 
statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also: 
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 We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
 We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control. 

 
 We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board. 
 
 We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting 

by the Board and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the School’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the School to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
 We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
 We assess the risk of material misstatement arising from the school payroll system, which 

may still contain errors. As a result, we carried out procedures to minimise the risk of 
material errors arising from the system that, in our judgement, would likely influence 
readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements. 

 
We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.  
 
Our responsibilities arises from the Public Audit Act 2001. 
 
Other information 
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Statement of 
Financial Responsibility, Board of Trustees schedule included under the School Directory page 
and the Analysis of Variance, but does not include the financial statements, Kiwisport statement 
and Personnel Policy Compliance statement included as appendices, and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 
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Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Independence 

We are independent of the School in accordance with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of 
Professional and Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 
issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the School. 

Cameron Town 
Silks Audit Chartered Accountants Ltd 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Whanganui, New Zealand 
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Normanby School

Members of the Board

Name Position

How

Position

Gained

Term

Expired/

Expires

Marion Prince Presiding Member Elected Nov 2023

Janelle Jones Principal ex Officio

Vicki Roberts Parent Representative Elected Sep 2025

Angelika Fowlie Parent Representative Elected Sep 2025

Craig Clarke Parent Representative Appointed Sep 2025

Renee Robinson Parent Representative Appointed Nov 2023

Natasha Campbell Staff Representative Elected Sep 2025
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Kiwisport

Kiwisport is a Government funding initiative to support students' participation in organised sport.  In 2022, the school 

received total Kiwisport funding of $2,196 (excluding GST).  The funding was spent on sporting endeavours.

Statement of Compliance with Employment Policy

For the year ended 31st December 2022 the Normanby School Board:

 Has developed and implemented personnel policies, within policy and procedural frameworks to ensure the fair and

proper treatment of employees in all aspects of their employment

 Has reviewed its compliance against both its personnel policy and procedures and can report that it meets all

requirements and identified best practice.

 Is a good employer and complies with the conditions contained in the employment contracts of all staff employed by

the Board.

 Ensures all employees and applicants for employment are treated according to their skills, qualifications and

abilities, without bias or discrimination.

 Meets all Equal Employment Opportunities requirements.
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Compliance with Education and Training Act 2020 requirements to be a good 
employer for the year ending 31 December 2022. 

Reporting on the principles of being a Good Employer 

How have you met your 
obligations to provide good 
and safe working conditions? 

We have met our obligations to provide good and safe 
working conditions.  The Board and Leadership Team 
follow and adhere to the guidelines set out in the schools 
EEO policy which is available on our School Docs 
Website. 

What is in your equal 
employment opportunities 
programme?  

How have you been fulfilling 
this programme? 

The Board and Leadership Team follow and adhere to 
the guidelines set out in the schools EEO policy which is 
available on our School Docs Website. 

How do you practise impartial 
selection of suitably qualified 
persons for appointment? 

The Board and Leadership Team follow and adhere to 
the guidelines set out in the schools EEO policy which is 
available on our School Docs Website. 

How are you recognising, 

− The aims and
aspirations of Maori,

− The employment
requirements of Maori,
and

− Greater involvement of 
Maori in the Education
service?

The Board, and Leadership Team follow and adhere to 
the guidelines set out in the schools EEO policy which is 
available on our School Docs Website. 

The school has established a comprehensive 
Professional Growth Cycle for all members of staff.  
Through this and the schools professional development 
programme, individual staff members are given the 
opportunity to pursue individual and school based goals 
to support the aspirations for students as set out in our 
Charter.  

How have you enhanced the 
abilities of individual 
employees? 

The school has established a comprehensive 
Professional Growth Cycle for all members of staff.  
Through this and the school’s professional development 
programme, individual staff members are given the 
opportunity to pursue individual and school-based goals 
to support the aspirations for students as set out in our 
Charter. 

How are you recognising the 
employment requirements of 
women? 

The school has established a comprehensive 
Professional Growth Cycle for all members of staff.  
Through this and the school’s professional development 
programme, individual staff members are given the 
opportunity to pursue individual and school-based goals 



to support the aspirations for students as set out in our 
Charter. 

The school supported the ‘Teacher Aide Pay Equity 
Claims.’  The settlement corrected past undervaluation of 
the work mainly done by women and acknowledges the 
value of skills, responsibilities and demands of teacher 
aides who are supporting children who need the most 
help with their learning. 

How are you recognising the 
employment requirements of 
persons with disabilities? 

The Board, and Leadership Team follow and adhere to 
the guidelines set out in the schools EEO policy which is 
available on our School Docs Website. 

Good employer policies should include provisions for an Equal Employment Opportunities 
(EEO) programme/policy . The Ministry of Education monitors these policies: 

Reporting on Equal Employment Opportunities (EEO) 
Programme/Policy 

YES NO 

Do you operate an EEO programme/policy? 

Has this policy or programme been made available to staff? 

Does your EEO programme/policy include training to raise 
awareness of issues which may impact EEO? 

Has your EEO programme/policy appointed someone to coordinate 
compliance with its requirements? 

Discussed at last 
Board Meeting, on 
Agenda for April 
Meeting. 

Does your EEO programme/policy provide for regular reporting on 
compliance with the policy and/or achievements under the policy? 

Does your EEO programme/policy set priorities and objectives? 
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    Our Charter 

2

Education Guidelines
The Normanby School Board of Trustees recognises the National Education Goals (NEGS), and the 

National Administration Guidelines (NAGS) and will meet all statutory obligations.

Personnel, Finance and Property
Normanby School Board of Trustees will:
★ Act as a good employer to teaching and

non- teaching staff;
★ Prepare a budget to monitor and control

school expenditure;
★ Allocate funds to meet the school’s

priorities so that student’s achievement is
enhanced;

★ Implement the 5 year/10-year property
plans to ensure the school’s facilities
provide a safe, healthy learning
environment.

e.g. purchase classroom furniture, carpet, and 
painting.

Consultation
In developing our Charter/ Annual plan the Board 
has consulted with the school community 
(bi-annually) by:
★ Holding a community chat evening;

The Board and staff collaborating to
develop new goals based on community
input.

★ Providing documentation on the new
goals for community feedback.

★ Ensuring it is a component of the Board’s
self-review cycle and charter
development.

The New Zealand Curriculum
At Normanby School we will:
★ Follow the NZ Curriculum as a guiding

document
★ Promote the teaching of values that allow

children to become respected and
respectful contributing members of their
community.

★ Support children to develop he necessary
Key Competencies to become confident,
connected, actively involved, lifelong
learners.

★ Provide a holistic education, enabling our
children to develop skills and knowledge
to empower them to be drivers of their
own future.

Response to Request for instruction in Te 
Reo
The Board will respond to any request for 
instruction in Te Reo Maori by:
★ Advising parents of the current level of

Te Reo and Tikanga Maori available at
Normanby School.

★ Offering to explore possibilities for
extending the current provision including:

★ Dual enrolment at Correspondence
School

★ Consulting with Resource Teacher:
Maori

★ Consulting with another school able
to provide a higher level of Te Reo
and Tikanga Maori.

Advise parents where the nearest school is that 
provides a higher level of instruction in Te Reo 
and Tikanga Maori.



    Our Mission 

Provide an inclusive environment 
where positive relationships 

support lifelong learners



    Education and 
Learning Objectives

The Education and Training Act 2020

The educational and learning objectives for early childhood 
education, primary education, and secondary education are:

(a) to help each child and young person attain their
educational potential; and

(b) to promote the development, in each child and young
person, of the following abilities and attributes:

(i) resilience, determination, confidence, creative and critical
thinking;

(ii) good social skills and the ability to form good relationships;

(iii) participation in community life and fulfilment of civic and
social responsibilities;

(iv) preparedness for work; and

(c) to install in each child and young persons, an
appreciation of the importance of

(i) the inclusion of different groups and persons with
different personal characteristics

(ii) diversity, cultural knowledge, identity and the
different official languages;

(iii) Te Tiriti o Waitangi and te reo Maori.



Strategic Goals
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Vestibulum congue Vestibulum congue 

Vestibulum congue 

Goal One: Our 
Students

To provide our students with a 
range of learning opportunities 

to be life-long learners. 

To engage our community to be 
actively involved in the life of our 

school and to have a positive 
home-school partnership

To develop professional 
capability always aiming for 
effectiveness and excellence.

Building 
Relationships

Goal Two: 
Our Staff

Goal 
Three: Our 
Community



Our Vision
To be Normanby S.T.A.Rs

At our school we encourage and model the values, principles 
and intent of the New Zealand Curriculum with special emphasis 

on our values which bring our vision to life:



    Our Values
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ACHIEVE
means I... 

Always strive to succeedA

TEAM
means I...  

Belong and include othersT

SELF MANAGERS
means I …

Make good choices and know when 
and how to act, independently.

S

RESPECT
means I... 

Respect myself, others and the 
environment by what I do, 
what I say and how I think

R



Our Graduate Profile



SELF 
MANAGE

means I... 

make good choices 
and know when 
and how to act, 
independently.

S

● Have a positive mind-set
● Persevere
● Set goals
● Have high standards
● Be resilient
● Solve problems and ask for help 

when I need to
● Be ready for learning
● Be prepared and organised by 

having home learning, stationery 
and correct gear e.g. swimming togs



TEAM
means I... 

belong and 
include others

T

● Be a positive team member by 
encouraging, including and 
supporting others 

● Show empathy and good 
sportsmanship

● Co-operate and work as a team 
● Negotiate and compromise 
● Communicate respectfully 
● Consider others and accept diversity 

and difference
● Participate and contribute
● Relate well to others



Achieve
means I... 

Always strive to 
succeed 

A

● work hard to achieve goals
● do the best we can
● take responsibility for ourselves
● challenge ourselves - set goals,

make plans, reflect, evaluate and
apply my skills and knowledge

● talk about my learning with others
● have a positive attitude
● keep trying to overcome challenges



RESPECT
means I…

 respect myself, 
others and the 

environment by 
what I do, what I 

say and how I 
think

R

Respect for self
● Have self-belief/giving all things a go 

(Growth Mind-set) 
● Care for my body through healthy 

food, exercise & hygiene 
● Keeping myself safe

Respect for others
● Be polite & respectful when speaking 

to others 
● To not be a bystander during social 

issues 
● Ask to borrow or use other people's 

things 
● Respect other people’s thoughts, 

opinions & differences 
● Reacting positively to others in social 

situations  
● Communicating: When I do not 

understand something and when I 
need things explained

● Keeping others safe

Respect for the Environment
● Always have a tidy work area (desks, 

art area, etc.) 
● Pick rubbish up and use the bins 
● Manage belongings and resources 
● Look after school equipment and 

property



   Guiding Principles
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★ High Expectations- We empower all students to achieve personal excellence.
 

★ Treaty of Waitangi – We acknowledge the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi 
and actively nurture Te Reo, tikanga and our bicultural heritage. We also embrace 
the diverse cultures and histories of Aotearoa.

★  Inclusion – We provide a welcoming, caring and inclusive environment that is 
emotionally, socially and physically safe for all learners and their families. We 
foster an environment that appreciates individuality and uniqueness, where 
effort is encouraged and success is celebrated.

★ Future Focus – learning experiences are future focussed and therefore are 
relevant to the changing world in which we live. We foster students’ appreciation 
of the resources in our local environment and problem-solve ways for protecting 
them for future generations.

★ Learning to Learn – We are creating an environment where all learners are 
empowered to participate in all activities and achieve within the key 
competencies and learning areas of the New Zealand Curriculum. We encourage 
our students to reflect on their own learning processes and learn how to learn, 
empowering them to be lifelong learners. We are committed to delivering a 
curriculum that enables all students to become active, confident, creative and 
innovative learners and thinkers and effective users of communication tools

★ Community Engagement – We develop a community of learners where 
teachers, students and families work in partnership. 

These principles are our beliefs about what is important and they will be seen 
in our teaching practices. They will underpin the decisions we make as a 
school. At Normanby School the Board of Trustees along with the Principal 
and staff are committed to…. 



   Maori Dimensions     
   and Cultural Diversity
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Normanby School recognises the importance of New Zealand’s cultural diversity and the 
unique position of Maori culture. The Board demonstrates its recognition of New Zealand’s 
cultural diversity through:
★ Consultation with our Maori community on Charter development;
★ Reflecting the unique place of Maori within our policy documentation and curriculum 

statements;
★ The continuing development of policies and practices that reflect New Zealand’s 

cultural diversity;
★ Provide all students with experiences and understandings in cultural traditions, 

language and local history;
★ Staff using commands and language in the classroom and when appropriate;
★ Including a Maori dimension in curriculum planning documentation;
★ Recognise the importance of Maori culture by allocating a management unit to this 

area of responsibility;
★ Ensure that our kapa haka group has opportunity to develop and perform.
★ Whole school visit to local Marae on a minimum triennial basis.

 
WHAT IS NORMANBY SCHOOL DOING TO REFLECT THE CULTURAL DIVERSITY IN 
NEW ZEALAND?
The school curriculum will encourage students to understand and respect different cultures 
that make up New Zealand society. It will ensure that the experiences, cultural traditions, 
histories and languages of all New Zealanders are recognised and valued. The curriculum 
will acknowledge the unique position of Māori and the place of Pacific Island societies in 
New Zealand society.



Maori Dimensions 
and Cultural Diversity
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WE RECOGNISE AND VALUE THE UNIQUE POSITION OF MĀORI CULTURE IN 
NEW ZEALAND by ensuring that all learners have the opportunity to acquire basic Te 
Reo and understanding of everyday conversational language (e.g. greetings, local 
places). The Treaty of Waitangi will guide our relationships and the nature of our 
interactions with the Māori community.  We will acknowledge and respect the values, 
traditions and history of Māori, observe cultural sensitivity to Tikanga Māori (Māori 
protocol) and show respect for the local Māori identity involved in the school and 
community.
 
WHAT REASONABLE STEPS WILL BE TAKEN TO INCORPORATE TIKANGA MĀORI 
INTO THE SCHOOL CURRICULUM?
Te Reo will be integrated across the curriculum. We encourage the correct pronunciation 
of Māori place names and personal names. Opportunities will be provided for students to 
join the Kapa Haka Group with students having opportunities to perform both in the 
school and for the wider community.
 
TO ENSURE EQUITABLE OUTCOMES FOR MĀORI WE NEED TO IDENTIFY 
LEARNERS WHO ARE at risk of not achieving or have learning needs so that 
programmes and resources can be targeted to cater for individual needs.
 
REPORTING to the Board of Trustees on the achievement of Māori learners will be 
on-going ensuring targets are set and resourcing put in place.
 
TO DISCOVER THE VIEWS AND CONCERNS OF THE MĀORI COMMUNITY, 
CONSULTATIONS WILL TAKE PLACE WITH the school’s community to develop and 
make known policies, plans and targets for improving the achievements of Māori 
students. 



    Reporting and   
    Communication
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★ Informative newsletters
★ Real time reporting through our Student Management System (Hero Linc-ED)
★ Hero Linc ED used school wide for regular informal communication and reporting on-line in 

all learning areas, including a strong focus on the gathering and sharing of learning through 
student voice.

★ Three-way conferencing with teacher, student and whanau (Term One and Term Three)
★ Ongoing celebration of learning
★ Normanby School Facebook (up to date messages, alerts and newsletters)
★ Hero Linc-ED used for communication with parents and whanau  (up to date messages, 

alerts and newsletters)
★ Normanby School Website www.normanby.school.nz
★ PTA meetings (monthly February to December)
★ Board meetings (monthly February to December)
★ Whanau Hui (annually)
★ Community consultation through specific forum topics
★ Open Door policy
★ Frequent invitations to ALL school events including swimming sports, cross country, 

athletics, Kapa Haka / Cultural events, End of year concert, Assemblies and Prize Giving
★ Family Fun Day incorporating Grandparents Day and Art Exhibition
★ School Charter including Annual Plans, Strategic Plans and key Board policies requiring 

periodic consultation.
★ All school policies available online through School Docs website.
★ Efficient email / cell phone / land line / FB messenger / in person access to Principal within 

school working hours.
★ Efficient email / land line and in person access to teaching and administrative staff within 

school working hours.
★ Principal’s presence in and around the school and community.
★ Strong community liaison with other local schools through our Kahui Ako, the South 

Taranaki Principals Association, and the New Plymouth Principals Association.

Communication with the community is an essential and highly successful 
component of life at Normanby School. Efficient communication and reporting 
procedures (formal and informal) are achieved through:

http://www.normanby.school.nz/


    Leadership and 
Whanau House Spirit
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 Leadership Opportunities
 
Extensive opportunities exist within our 
school environment for our students to 
become leaders and to serve others 
within this school community and 
ultimately society.
 
Our student leaders, including our staff, 
actively role model our school values in 
all areas of school-life.
 
The school leadership is based on a 
collaborative and distributive leadership 
model.
 
Student councillors (leaders) will be 
chosen in Term 4 of each year and 
announced at the End of Year 
prizegiving. This group of students will 
work closely with the School 
Management Team to grow them in their 
leadership capability.
 
These students will attend the annual 
GRIP Leadership coaching day in 
Palmerston North. 

Whanau House Spirit and 
Competitions

 
The Whanau House Competition in a 
wide variety of sports, cultural and other 
activities within our school, forms an 
integral component of the development 
of school culture through the promotion 
of the following:
★ Sportsmanship and fair play
★ Leadership
★ A competitive spirit
★ The pursuit of excellence 

(citizenship and academic)
★ School pride and sense of 

belonging
★ Health and well-being through an 

active lifestyle
★ Resilience and perseverance
★ Team work



Annual Plan 2022
Key Objectives:

● Relationships-based Learning (RbL)  
                To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective and sustainable practice, and to build positive 
             relationships with  all stakeholders to support learning. 

● Positive Behaviour For Learning (PB4L) 
             To create a safe and supportive environment within our school community to build positive
             and respectful relationships that improve academic achievement and encourage independent 
             and lifelong learners. 

● Maths
            To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective  pedagogical and content knowledge of   
the maths curriculum to improve achievement and engagement. This will result in accelerated 
progress for all students, with 75% achieving the benchmark for their age in Mathematics. 

● Well Being
Ensuring all aspects of our students’ and staff wellbeing are supported so we can all be 
effective participants and contributors.

● Local Curriculum 
To provide a balanced curriculum that makes effective use of our local resources to enable our 
akonga to connect with and value their environment, heritage, language, identity and culture.  

● Property/Environment 
To provide a safe and effective learning environment using a variety of appropriate resources.



RbL - Relationships-based Learning  

Objectives: 
To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective and sustainable practice, and to build 
positive relationships with all stakeholders to support learning. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation and Reflection
How will we measure 

success? 

To accelerate student achievement and 
improve educational outcomes 

To maximise progress and achievement 
particularly for indigenous and 
marginalised students

Use the RbL observation tool and follow-up 
coaching conversations to collect, collate and 
analyse data relating to:

-  the development of extended
-  family-like contexts for learning
-  effective teacher interactions
-  student engagement in learning

An assigned Impact Coach will support teachers 
to look closely and critically at the evidence 
collected and use it to inform next steps in 
teaching and learning and to maximise learner 
progress and achievement. 

All staff will receive a full RbL observation once 
per year and provisionally registered teachers will 
receive two full observations per year.

All staff will receive snapshot observations 
regularly throughout the year (at least once per 
term) so goals and impact can be reviewed and 
next steps can be activated.

Mid-year Literacy data

Mid-year Maths data

PGC Impact Coaching 

Co-construction/North-East 
monitoring meetings

RbL and Maths No Problem - 
Staff PD

To prioritise regular collection of student 
voice to inform our decisions about future 
focus areas from the RbL profile.

To activate the ‘voice’ collected in 2021 
from students, whanau, leaders, support 
staff and teachers.

There will be 8 collections of student voice and up 
to 2 collections of relationships (Part 1) and 
interactions (Part 2) data each year:
Term 1: Full observation, Snapshot
              observation
Term 2: Two Snapshot observations
Term 3: Two Snapshot observations
Term 4: PCTs - Full observation, Snapshot
              FRTs - Two Snapshot 
              observations

Voice Collection - Community Feedback
Next steps discussed by staff:

● Continue to give students opportunities to 
work in preferred ways and in environments 
which are conducive to positive learning 
outcomes. This will require teachers to 
continue to build their own capabilities in 
being relational and to establish and sustain a 
family-like environment for learning to occur.

● Encourage whanau to become familiar and 
proficient in using  our SMS, Hero and to 
eventually use this platform as our main 
means of communication with parents.

● Work collaboratively to build consistent 
relationship-based practices and a language 
of learning across all classes.

● Continue to design learning that targets 
specific strengths and needs through learning 
inquiries which are relevant, meaningful, 
interesting and cognitively challenging for our 
students.

● To continue on our RbL journey and ensure 
that collaborative monitoring meetings are 
very purposeful and targeted around student 
progress and achievement.

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1FnQa1n_cQlbIyBxnjVsKGONbU3MNf-iJws1HnvXwyu8/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1w6g6A5EN8xSbUQml2eSbG6VAZlWAOfMzG7R8ECAn1A4/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1HMk5Ps6kQd0UOnFgFh2adOhMYMPR82MNiQ_STUDNZ-g/edit
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1ji3GgAlOOCsLeSpTJziUzKZED--rtG_ysDMeyRFRhY8/edit#slide=id.gbebde10617_0_5
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1ji3GgAlOOCsLeSpTJziUzKZED--rtG_ysDMeyRFRhY8/edit#slide=id.gbebde10617_0_5
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/15JD5jH2S7dFkj7QkV2nhcCXwzj0admEJSaT_sCf4pvw/edit#slide=id.g4dfce81f19_0_45
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/15JD5jH2S7dFkj7QkV2nhcCXwzj0admEJSaT_sCf4pvw/edit#slide=id.g4dfce81f19_0_45
https://docs.google.com/document/d/141ajzPiB7IO2jfTP9Nh9TZBU443u6dnhwT8rplTvNdI/edit


RbL - Relationships-based Learning  

Objectives: 
To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective and sustainable practice, and to build 
positive relationships with all stakeholders to support learning. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation and Reflection
How will we measure 

success? 

For all new staff to become familiar with 
the Relationship-Based Learning profile 
and practise using the five dimensions 
that will lead to the creation of a 
family-like context in the classrooms;

1. rejecting deficit thinking, 
2. caring and nurturing, 
3. high expectations for learning 

and behaviour, 
4. effective management of the 

people, resources and setting, 
5. having the necessary 

pedagogical knowledge

For all new staff to deliberately plan for 
RbL interactions with students when 
teaching across the curriculum. These 
include:

● Drawing on student’s prior 
learning

● Giving feedback and 
feed-forward

● Using power-sharing and 
co-construction strategies

All staff to read “Teaching to the North East” by 
Russell Bishop. Staff need to have a degree of 
understanding about the research that 
underpins the RbL profile as a Pedagogical 
Framework. be able to describe what underpins 
Teaching to the North-East and understand

Teachers need to develop key understandings 
about effective North-East teaching over time, 
including;

● Its part in increasing culturally 
responsive practice to fully promote 
Maori success as Maori

● The implications for 
minoritised/marginalised students

● Noticing any shift in Impact Coaching 
Data (presented as spider 
graphs/longitudinal graphs)

● The availability and access to WST and 
AST to provide Professional Learning 
internally - reflecting gaps identified in 
the RbL profile through impact coaching

● How colleagues and impact coaches 
can support teacher capability to 
effectively inquire into their practice. 

To build positive relationships with family 
and whanau to support learning

All staff are expected to make an effort to 
engage with whanau by:
             - Making phone calls as needed
             - Face-to-face check-ins when  
               possible ie. before and after school 
             - Attending extra-curricula school  
               events such as Family Picnic, Meet 
               the Teacher evening, Parent 
               Information Evenings, Touch Rugby,
               Netball, etc.

All classroom teachers will also connect with 
whanau and share student learning through the 
HERO Student management system

Twice yearly whanau conferences.



RbL - Relationships-based Learning  

Objectives: 
To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective and sustainable practice, and to build 
positive relationships with all stakeholders to support learning. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation and Reflection
How will we measure 

success? 

Teachers monitor their own actions as 
learners and understand the impact of the 
processes of learning on students

All staff actively participate in and follow the 
established protocols of Co-construction 
Meetings (or North-East Monitoring Meetings) 
as a way to evaluate the impact of their 
teaching on student outcomes

In Co-construction Meetings teachers 
question their own and each others’ RbL 
practice (the impact of the extended family 
like context for learning in their classrooms 
and the  discursive interactions within this 
context). Teachers modify practices in 
response to the evidence gathered.

Co-construction meetings support teachers to 
review and set goals for their own learning

Co-construction meetings allow teachers to 
participate and lead learning of themselves 
and others.

Classroom teachers are to be reflective 
about their RbL knowledge and practice 
and will carefully consider where they are 
at in terms of their RbL journey in an 
ongoing and cyclical way

Staff will maintain documentation as  part of 
their professional growth cycle and appraisal 
process. This documentation will include a 
record of all observations and coaching 
conversations and links to  Co-construction 
meetings 



                
    PB4L - Positive Behaviour for Learning

Objective: 
To create a safe and supportive environment within our school community to build positive 
and respectful relationships that improve academic achievement and encourage independent 
and lifelong learners. 

Goals Action Plan
Who, What, How?

Evaluation and 
Reflection

To continue to provide a positive school 
climate and create a supportive 
environment for personal, social and 
academic growth for staff and students. 

Continue to implement school wide 
systems that support consistency of 
Positive Behaviour for Learning across 
the school.

To use the Teaching for Positive 
Behaviour resource booklet to support 
engagement, participation and learning 
of PB4L across the school and to reflect 
on current classroom practice.

To reflect on PB4L best practice in our 
school, both in and out of the classroom 
and teach our STAR Values in the 
different settings.

Weekly Staff PB4L Morning Tea 
Meetings with professional learning 
and development. The focus being the 
four main pedagogical approaches 
from the NZC.
* Creating a supportive learning 
environment
* Encouraging Reflective thought and 
action
* Facilitating shared learning
* Providing sufficient opportunities to 
learn

Reflect on teaching programmes, 
provide support and new learning and 
and facilitate shared learning and 
successes. 
Set new individual goals for aspects of 
teaching PB4L in our school.



                
    PB4L - Positive Behaviour for Learning

Objective: 
To create a safe and supportive environment within our school community to build positive 
and respectful relationships that improve academic achievement and encourage independent 
and lifelong learners. 

Goals Action Plan
Who, What, How?

Evaluation and Reflection

Embed our STAR values in our 
teaching practice both in and out 
of the classroom.  

Acknowledgements of positive 
behaviour. STAR Cards to be issued in 
all settings across the school.
All staff to use consistent language of 
School Values, teach and acknowledge 
expected behaviours.
Celebrations and recognition of 
students milestones reaching 40, 50, 
100 Star Cards.
STAR Wall to be updated with photos 
to share success.

Reference to the Lesson plans for 
PB4L in all settings to assist with 
teaching our Star Values in the settings 
around the school.

Embed our STAR Values of Self 
Manage, Team, Achieve and Respect 
in all aspects of school life. We will 
continue to recognise positive 
behaviours by issuing Star Cards to 
students to acknowledge their efforts 
through our reward system and STAR 
wall.
Total number of Star Cards are collated 
each week and added together with 
Whanau House Points for celebration 
at Assembly. 

Integration of PB4L and STAR 
Values across the school in 
Circle Times, morning 
whakatauki messages, 
assembly and classroom 
practice.

Students reach milestones of 
20, 50 and 100 Star Cards 
and are acknowledged with 
their photo on the Star Wall.

Classes share PB4L 
messages in assembly.
Students are able to show’ the 
expected behaviours and Star 
Values throughout the school 
in all settings.



                
    PB4L - Positive Behaviour for Learning

Objective: 
To create a safe and supportive environment within our school community to build positive 
and respectful relationships that improve academic achievement and encourage independent 
and lifelong learners. 

Goals Action Plan
Who, What, How?

Evaluation and Reflection

To monitor and reflect on data. Behavioural incidents are tracked, 
collected, analysed and regularly 
shared with staff and used to make 
decisions.
Behaviour incidents to be recorded on 
Hero.
PB4L Team to meet to analyse data 
and meet twice a year and share with 
staff. 

To have a fortnightly STAR value 
focus schoolwide. E.g Self 
Manage - 2 weeks, Team - 2 
weeks.
Lesson plans to be used to teach 
expected behaviours in all 
settings across the school. 

All teachers teach PB4L STAR Values 
and expected behaviours daily, through 
Circle Times each morning.

Resources include the PB4L Lesson 
plans for all settings, and Circle 
Time/teaching points developed in 
2021. 

To celebrate the success of our 
Whanau Houses and Star Cards 
each week at Assembly. House 
Points shared for the number of 
Star Cards given for the week.

To have a special celebration for 
each House when they reach the 
goal of 10,000 Star Cards.

Student Leaders deliver a message in 
our daily morning Whakatauki time, 
and also at Assembly based on the 
current STAR Value. 

Star Value messages in our Daily 
notices that are shared every morning 
by class teaches. This leads into 
discussion and circle times about our 
Star Value of the week.

Plan a special day to celebrate the 
milestone of 10,000 Star Cards either 
individually for each house or as a 
combined event.

Messages are delivered by 
Student Leaders with 
confidence.

Whanau Houses reach their 
10,000 target goal and a 
celebration event takes place.



                
    PB4L - Positive Behaviour for Learning

Objective: 
To create a safe and supportive environment within our school community to build positive 
and respectful relationships that improve academic achievement and encourage independent 
and lifelong learners. 

Goals Action Plan
Who, What, How?

Evaluation and Reflection

Embed our STAR values in our 
teaching practice both in and out 
of the classroom.  

Acknowledgements of positive 
behaviour. STAR Cards to be issued in 
all settings across the school.
All staff to use consistent language of 
School Values, teach and acknowledge 
expected behaviours.
Celebrations and recognition of 
students milestones reaching 40, 50, 
100 Star Cards.
STAR Wall to be updated with photos 
to share success.

Reference to the Lesson plans for 
PB4L in all settings to assist with 
teaching our Star Values in the settings 
around the school.

Embed our STAR Values of Self 
Manage, Team, Achieve and Respect 
in all aspects of school life. We will 
continue to recognise positive 
behaviours by issuing Star Cards to 
students to acknowledge their efforts 
through our reward system and STAR 
wall.
Total number of Star Cards are collated 
each week and added together with 
Whanau House Points for celebration 
at Assembly. 

Integration of PB4L and STAR 
Values across the school in 
Circle Times, morning 
whakatauki messages, 
assembly and classroom 
practice.

Students reach milestones of 
20, 50 and 100 Star Cards 
and are acknowledged with 
their photo on the Star Wall.

Classes share PB4L 
messages in assembly.
Students are able to show’ the 
expected behaviours and Star 
Values throughout the school 
in all settings.



    Mathematics
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Objective: To  strengthen teachers’ capability for effective pedagogical and content knowledge of  
the maths curriculum to improve achievement and engagement. This will result in accelerated 
progress for all students, with 75% achieving the benchmark for their age in Mathematics. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure success? 

To use the RbL observation tool and  
impact coaching to provide teachers 
with evidence of effective teaching 
practice in Mathematics

Impact Coaches will complete a full 
observation of all staff in Terms 1 and 3 
and code the evidence from the three 
parts of the RbL profile. This will allow 
teachers to set next learning steps and 
goals in relation to RbL discourses and 
interactions in the teaching of 
mathematics. Teachers can request 
observations and coaching at any stage.

Coaching conversations between 
teacher and impact coach to 
determine an achievable goal. 
Student voice collection, data 
collection through impact 
coaching and observations. 
Co-construction meetings to 
develop next steps for target 
students and to share effective 
maths pedagogy within the Maths 
no problem programme.

Students to be able to articulate and 
explain their learning and thinking in 
maths

Students to be working collaboratively 
with a buddy in all maths lessons. 
Explicit teaching and modelling of how to 
explain and articulate thinking and 
problem solve together. Further sharing 
and explaining opportunities to be 
provided in all lessons (ie to class or 
small group). Journaling to be explicitly 
taught and incorporated into lessons at 
least twice per week.

Student voice collection, 
observations, reflections, review 
part of daily lessons. Journaling.

To develop students self-efficacy and a 
growth mindset in mathematics

Give opportunities and a clear message 
to students that they are mathematicians 
and that maths is all around us. Noticing 
and celebrating students achievements, 
teaching the students about how to 
develop a growth mindset, positive 
acknowledgements of students thinking 
and actions as they succeed in maths 
learning, encouraging students to take 
risks with their learning

Student voice collection, 
observations, Hero goals and 
progression through these



    Mathematics
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Objective: To  strengthen teachers’ capability for effective pedagogical and content knowledge of  
the maths curriculum to improve achievement and engagement. This will result in accelerated 
progress for all students, with 75% achieving the benchmark for their age in Mathematics. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure success? 

For students to become 
mathematical problem-solvers 

All lessons to incorporate ten 
minutes or “explore” where 
students are given the tools to 
actively engage with a 
mathematical problem. Explicit 
teaching of vocabulary and 
‘making sense of the question’

They will be able to solve 
problems successfully and 
accurately

For students to build their 
capability to work together and 
learn cooperatively

Give opportunities for, and 
explicitly teach the skills of 
cooperation and collaboration. 
Collaboration is the ‘way of doing’ 
in maths and is provided for in 
every lesson. Teachers develop 
their own knowledge of what 
makes a good working/learning 
group, develop anchor charts 
about how we do this 
successfully.

Observation, noticing improved 
practice of cooperative and 
collaborative learning, students 
can articulate their thinking 
confidently and respectfully to 
each other. Students understand 
the value of working 
collaboratively and can appreciate 
the thinking of others.

Deliver an engaging and exciting 
mathematics curriculum

Work together as a whole staff to 
develop our capabilities, support 
colleagues, share resources, 
target time to discuss Maths - No 
Problem and achievement in 
co-construction meetings. 
Teachers to know the lesson well 
prior to teaching so they can 
foresee any difficulties or 
challenges that may crop up, find 
out student interests, relevant, 
authentic

They will be excited and looking 
forward to doing maths, listen to 
the students (student voice)
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Objective: To  strengthen teachers’ capability for effective pedagogical and content knowledge of  
the maths curriculum to improve achievement and engagement. This will result in accelerated 
progress for all students, with 75% achieving the benchmark for their age in Mathematics. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure success? 

Teachers to have excellent 
pedagogical content knowledge i.e 
understanding mathematical 
learning progressions, know what 
effective teaching looks like and 
sounds like, be effective question 
askers for facilitating mathematical 
discussions.  i.e RbL, strategies

Knowing the curriculum well, knowing the 
learning progressions, staff PD (Maths - No 
Problem), Hero goals. All staff invested in 
professional development and giving our 
students the best opportunities to achieve. 
Develop consistency across all teachers 
and classes.  Teachers regularly access the 
MNP hub for clear understanding of the 
learning and to develop differentiation 
strategies that work within the MNP 
programme for learners who need extra 
support or enrichment.

Staff PD (Maths - No Problem), 
achievement data, RbL documents

For students to access learning at 
the level of their current year group

Students will attend a specified maths 
classroom where the teacher is responsible 
for delivering the Maths - no problem 
programme, with students off all abilities 
within their year group level. The teacher 
will be required to provide support for 
struggling students and enrichment for 
more capable learners within each lesson. 
Timetabled daily lessons at the same time 
across the school. LA support provided in 
classes with larger numbers. Teachers will 
be familiar with the lesson, and the 
opportunities to scaffold or enrich learning 
prior to teaching.

Achievement levels of students. 
Co-construction meetings, student 
and whanau voice

For whanau to have clear reporting 
about where their child is working in 
maths and how the Maths - No 
problem is working within our 
school

To continue to communicate with our 
school community about Maths - No 
Problem! Celebratory posts that show 
children engaging with materials to be 
shared once per term. Same post used for 
all children across the school. The teacher 
of the MATHS class the student is in will be 
responsible for the students maths goals 
and posts.

Our whanau will know who teaches 
maths to their chid/ren. They will be 
familiar with how maths is 
structured in our school. Head start 
Huis, comments within Hero and at 
meetings the school holds for our 
community.
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Objective: To develop a balanced curriculum that makes effective use of our local resources to connect 
our children with their environment, heritage, and culture.  To promote a school culture that values Maori 
students’ identity, language and culture. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure success? 

Use relevant readily available 
resources - people, cultural, heritage 
organisations, and local places. 

Leaders of Te Ao to liaise with 
classroom teachers, Resource 
Teacher of Maori and other key 
people to ensure cultural 
appropriateness of teaching and 
learning decisions.

Community Survey

Ngaraina (RTMaori) support with 
Marae visit

Reflect on our programme regularly 
and collaboratively to ensure it 
continues to meet the needs and 
priorities of our community. We aim 
to be responsive to the needs, 
identities, languages, cultures,    
interests, strengths and aspirations of 
our learners and their families.

Collect voice from students and 
whanau (conferences, surveys, Voice 
Collection (bi-annually)

Have a clear focus on RbL strategies 
and practices that support the 
progress of all learners

Help students understand Te Tiriti o 
Waitangi - its past, present, and future

Help students engage with local 
knowledge, school values, and key 
competencies, so they can go on to 
be confident and connected lifelong 
learners

PLM - Local Curriculum updates 
presented to staff and discussion 
and feedback shared.

Decide on the concepts and contexts 
for learning (rich, rigorous and 
challenging learning opportunities 
that increase the breadth, depth, and 
complexity of learning experiences as 
students progress along their learning 
pathway using a systematic inquiry 
approach.

Teams plan collaboratively

Team meetings are held fortnightly to 
reflect and discuss provision and 
delivery of rich inquiry learning.

Evidence of learning (goals) and key 
competency development is shared in 
real-time on Hero.

Jude and Janelle attended 
professional development in 
Auckland - launching the new 
histories curriculum.

Jude attended online ANZ 
Histories PD throughout the year - 
Understand, Know, Do framework, 
planning, matauranga maori.

Develop an integrated planning model 
for use by all staff.

Our Local Curriculum Slides 27- 31 Updated in Term 4 and presented 
to staff.  New ANZ Histories 
resources shared with all 
classroom teachers.

Continually upskilling on the 
curriculum refresh (2023)

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1KsxhHbSSwQ9UWmvMybBUkNRXe1RjWxb_m_2PvRsCrLU/edit
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1V97GA6V-uj7jhacTk9hYd4JnegS6Aus4UW-jypU4YFs/edit#slide=id.gafc0c74368_0_1551
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Objective: To provide a safe and effective learning environment using a variety of appropriate 
resources. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

We have been allocated $157 990 for 
the 2021-2026 period. This money is 
available from July this year. 

We are also allocated another $157 
990 from the Accelerated 
Modernisation Scheme (AMS).  We 
will also receive $4 213 in July for 
furniture. 

In January we had reports furnished 
on our drainage, roofing, electrical and 
plumbing. This work is carried out for 
the MOE to verify what work needs to 
be completed to comply with their 
standards. Approximately $54K ($41K 
roofing, $15K storm water) of the 
allocated property money will need to 
go into the required upgrading or work 
to be done to the school. This leaves 
us with approximately $262K. 
Anything under $5K has to be paid by 
the BOT ie. upgrading lighting. 

The money is to be used for the 
following:
Priority 2 - Infrastructure
Priority 3 - Modernised 
Refurbishment. 

Stormwater issues completed in 
2022

Roofing issues completed in 2022. 

Join Room 1 & 2 with a hole in the wall 
and sliding doors (as we have done 
with Room 5 & 6). 

This has been advertised on GETS 
for tenders. Tenders close Mid 
November 2022. Work not 
expected to start until 2023. 

Upgrade classroom furniture as 
required

Room 8 - remove inside cloakbay area 
and make this area a breakout space 
(similar to Room 6)

To use money from the sale of 
school flats to complete. 
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Objective: To provide a safe and effective learning environment using a variety of appropriate 
resources. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we 

measure success? 

Refurbish all classrooms to the standard 
of Room 5 & 6 (refurbished in 2019). 

Rooms 3 & 4 - new autex walls 
completed October 2022

Room 7 & 8 deck area to be utilised for a 
learning and cloakbay space. 

This area will be screened off on the 
field side. Cubby holes (also to be 
utilised as seats) and hooks for bags 
will be installed. 
To be completed in 2023

Complete the Room 5 & 6 doors opening 
out onto the deck (we did not have enough 
money to complete this project)

Money received from School Flats to 
be used

Purchase two new school vans to replace 
our current vehicles.

Fully refurbish Room 7 Room 7 fully refurbished October 2022

Complete the modernisation of the autex 
walls in all classrooms

Rooms 3, 4 & 7  new autex walls 
completed October 2022

Complete carpets, lino  and autex walls in 
all other areas of the school that has not 
been upgraded and covered by 5YA. Eg 
staffroom, office, principal office, staff 
toilets

Money received from School Flats to 
be used

New carpet hallway, Room 7, Room 1, 
Room 2.

New carpet in Hallway.and Room 7 
completed October 2022
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Objective: To provide a safe and effective learning environment using a variety of appropriate 
resources. 

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

Outdoor learning space for Room 5, 6, 
7 & 8 - decks all joined and same 
height. 

Money received from School Flats to be 
used

Install heat Pump / Air conditioners in 
all rooms as funding comes available

Money received from School Flats to be 
used

New autex wall linings in Hallway To be completed in December 2022

New bark on Playground To put in 2023 Budget and seek 
contribution from STDC

Playground to be up graded - checked 
for safety and fixed

To put in 2023 Budget and seek 
contribution from STDC

Dispose of Dental Clinic MOE notified in 2021 - waiting for 
disposal

Dispose of swimming pool and 
associate buildings

MOE notified in 2022 - waiting for 
disposal.

Once disposed, paint fences and 
complete any necessary fences to keep 
secure. Make this area a school garden 
/orchard. 
Build a purpose built garden shed 
(similar to our PE shed) - use money 
from the sale of the school flats. 

Staff Car Park Built on West side of 
School Hall. 

Money received from School Flats to be 
used
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Objective: To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective pedagogical and content 
knowledge of  the PE, Sport and Health curriculum to improve achievement and engagement. 
This will result in greater enjoyment and participation levels.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

A holistic approach to teaching PE 
that is inclusive

Two lead teachers taking part in 
PD - ‘Healthy Active Learning’. 
Leads will share that learning with 
whole staff. Include a regular slot 
at PLMs to discuss and reflect on 
how our Healthy Active Learning is 
going. Planning and timetabling are 
very explicit.

All students will be actively 
participating with enthusiasm. 
Teachers will develop their own 
skills and confidence. Celebration 
posts on Hero will indicate 
participation and engagement in 
inclusive activities

To build teacher capability to teach 
PE and Sport (skills and 
knowledge)

PLD and workshops with our team 
leads 

Through observations and 
reflections of students and staff, 
leads will model and support other 
teachers to deliver programmes

Design a long term plan that 
becomes part of our Local 
Curriculum document

Team to work alongside PLD 
provider and liaising with staff

A working, living document will be 
included in our Local Curriculum 
document

Health - to have a clear long term 
framework about content and 
concept coverage (Keeping 
Ourselves Safe, Fire Safety, Life 
Education, etc)

Consult with our community 
regarding the Health curriculum

Feedback from our community - 
Google forms, surveys, etc
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Objective: To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective pedagogical and content 
knowledge of  the PE, Sport and Health curriculum to improve achievement and engagement. 
This will result in greater enjoyment and participation levels.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

Strengthen our Whanau House 
competition 

By providing opportunities for 
multi-level, tuakana-teina events 
and activities to build whanau 
House spirit.

Will be observable around the 
school, students feel they can all 
participate, students are given 
opportunities to lead

To provide opportunities for our 
high ability children to excel and 
represent Normanby School in 
competitions

Sign up to as many events as 
possible and create opportunities 
in playtimes and afterschool for 
practices.
Promote events and encourage 
students to give things a go. Make 
practices fun and celebrate every 
success.

More students will be enthusiastic 
to compete. Our successes will 
have a flow on effect to the rest of 
the school inspiring them to want 
to succeed also.
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Objective: To embed and use Hero as an effective SMS/Reporting tool (Real-Time)

Goals
What do we want to 

achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

Clear and consistent data 
management 

Ensure goals are accurate and 
relevant,  Ensure all staff have access 
to guidelines, and familiarise new 
staff, around reporting and data 
collection protocols,  to continue with 
moderation meetings.All staff 
responsible for maintaining data 
through goals. Movement of sliders to 
show current achievement to be 
carried out within moderation 
meetings or through moderation with 
subject leads.

Regular Hero team review 
meetings, Minutes from 
moderation meetings, regular 
discussions in team meetings 
led by Hero team members, 
signposts in assessment 
overview document

All staff to be proficient in using 
the tool

To participate in PLD through 
webinars, use existing knowledge and 
expert partners on staff

Review meetings, check-ins at 
team meetings with Hero team 
support, teacher voice

To engage all parents to access 
and use Hero   

To communicate and connect 
effectively to ensure we are 
supporting parents to engage with 
Hero, including a general comment 
and reflect on STARs and PLPs. 
School communications will mostly 
be done through Hero (wean parents 
off Facebook), random spot prizes, 
challenges e.g find the hidden word, 
etc (see Tips and Tricks)

Using the Insight function, 

To integrate IEPs, PB4L and 
BSLA

IEPs, PB4L, BSLA and personal 
learning goal pages have been added. 
All staff to continue to utilise these

Evidence will be visible for IEPs, 
BSLA and PB4L

To continue to monitor MNP 
goals to ensure accuracy and 
curriculum coverage

Tash and Hero team to check that 
year 6 content and journal C of 
Foundations content has been 
covered.
Whole staff meeting to check in that 
the goal set added in 2022 is 
manageable and accurate. Adjust as 
necessary.

We will see that we have full 
curriculum coverage and that 
data is accurate and relevant to 
the levels.
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Objective: To embed and use Hero as an effective SMS/Reporting tool (Real-Time)

Goals
What do we want to 

achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

To explore the use of the 
student pages and how our 
students can access the tool

Workshops with team, webinar 
viewing, visiting with other users e.g 
Tawhiti

Make a decision around student 
use and make an action plan if 
applicable

Make more effective use of the 
tool for planning purposes - 
groups, target students, etc

PLD workshops with staff Will be evidenced in teacher 
planning eg groupings, next 
steps. We should hear it in our 
professional conversations and 
eventually conversations with 
students and whanau

Staff pages to sit within Hero 
(PCT mentor documents, PLD 
register, Teaching standards). 
These can be embedded from 
Google Drive 

Revisit at the beginning of 2023 to 
ensure staff understand the process 
and what to include.

We will have all professional 
documentation in one place. It 
will be accessible to the staff 
member and senior lead team 
only.
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Objective: To participate and appreciate the Pasifika Culture through dance, language and 
music. 

Goals
What do we want to 

achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

For students to have an 
appreciation of different 
cultures represented in our 
school and community, and 
participate in a form of Pasifika 
culture through dance, language 
and music.

Continue to incorporate the Pasifika 
welcome led by senior students into 
formal gatherings e.g Assembly, 
Prizegiving.

Some students to be taught a Samoan 
Sasa to perform at a School event. 
The sasa can be performed by both 
males and females in a seated 
position or standing. Hand 
movements are used to depict 
activities taken from everyday life and 
this will be unique to Normanby 
School.

The Pasifika welcome is 
integrated into all weekly 
Assemblies as part of our formal 
welcome.

The Sasa promotes engagement 
and achievement through 
participating, learning and 
belonging. 
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Objective: To ensure that all learners have the opportunity to become digitally capable 
individuals. 

Goals
What do we want to 

achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

Unpack the digital technologies 
document and understand what 
it will look like in practice and 
how we can integrate it in 
planning and add to our local 
curriculum document. Upskill 
our staff so they feel confident to 
plan/teach

Team meetings
Workshops
Planning template (exemplars)
Find some good examples of what 
other schools are doing
Show clear progressions from Y0-Y6

We will see children using digital 
technology as a tool  to engage 
and enhance their learning

We will see staff who are 
confident to deliver to integrate 
and deliver a digital technologies 
programs
We will know what the DT 
progressions are across all 
levels of the school

Integrate the digital technologies 
curriculum into other learning 
areas.

Write as part of our local curriculum a 
delivery statement of how we are 
going to teach this

To help our students build their 
skills so they can be innovative 
creators of digital solutions, 
moving beyond solely being 
users and consumers of digital 
technologies. 

Opportunities will be provided for 
students to develop Technological 
Knowledge particular to technological 
enterprises and environments and in 
relation to how and why things work. 
Teachers will generally take a 
cross-curricular approach, with 
students learning in the technological 
areas as part of a topic or theme that 
encompasses several curriculum 
learning areas.
Students are given opportunities to 
develop the knowledge and skills they 
need as digital citizens and as users 
of digital technologies across the 
curriculum. This will also provide 
opportunities to further develop their 
key competencies.
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Objective: To ensure that all learners have the opportunity to become digitally capable 
individuals. 

Goals
What do we want to 

achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

To apply for capital funding 
($30K) from the Toi Foundation  
to purchase new iPADS

Apply for funding for new iPADS as 
the ones we have in Matariki Hub are 
about 10 years old and no longer 
update to the latest Apps. This will 
allow teachers to be able to integrate 
digital technology into all subject 
areas across the curriculum. 

If we are successful in gaining 
the funding then we will be able 
to purchase 50 new iPADS and 
cases. These will be distributed 
accordingly across the school. 

To use iPads and chromebooks 
to facilitate learning in a host of 
different ways courtesy of 
interactive apps that allow 
instant input and feedback. 
This enables educators to 
support traditional learning with 
apps that further instill 
numeracy and literacy skills 
through gamified education.

Teachers will blend traditional 
teaching practices with digital 
technologies to meet the needs of 
their students. 

These devices will cater for a variety 
of learning styles and create 
interactive classrooms:

● provide an engaging learning 
environment that can hook in 
reluctant learners

● are portable so students can move 
around the classroom and find a 
work setting that is suitable for 
them

● feature large multi-touch screens 
that let students use their 
fingertips. This is particularly 
beneficial for younger children.

Students will be confident 
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Objective: To ensure that all learners have the opportunity to become digitally capable 
individuals. 

Goals
What do we want to 

achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

Students to use maths 
applications to consolidate 
their knowledge base. 
These can be  adjusted 
depending on their ability.

Math apps often were part 
of a maths rotation but now 
we have ‘Maths no problem’ 
apps will potentially only be 
for extension or fast 
finishers

Favourite maths apps might include:

● Math Bingo
● Math magic
● Mathmateer
● Prodigy
● Sumdog

Students to use  iPads 
during reading time to work 
on focus areas such as 
reading fluency, 
comprehension, 
handwriting letter formation, 
and grammar. 

Teachers could provide a task board outlining 
the apps they needed to work on. This will 
promote self-management and allow the 
teacher to fully focus on her guided reading 
group.

Students could use the inbuilt camera to record 
themselves reading out loud and watching it 
back. They can then self-assess their reading to 
identify future goals. This activity can lead to 
increased fluency and expression.

Favourite reading apps might include:

● A camera (to record fluency)
● Bluster
● Epic 
● Dreamscape

iPads to be used to publish 
work in a fun and visually 
appealing way. 

iPads can be used to publish the children’s own 
work. For example they could use the app, 
Puppet pals – Director's Pass .

● Toontastic

Handwriting apps on the iPads can help 
students to practise the correct formation of 
letters. Spelling apps can be used to teach 
spelling conventions. 

Favourite handwriting and spelling apps 
include: 

● BlobbleWrite
● Word Magic

https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/math-bingo/id371338715?mt=8
https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/math-magic/id291478690?mt=8
https://apps.apple.com/us/app/rocket-math/id393989284
https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/bluster!/id416160693?mt=8
https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/puppet-pals-hd-directors-pass/id462134755?mt=8
https://apps.apple.com/us/app/blobblewrite/id415656729
https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/word-magic/id293630633?mt=8
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Objective: To ensure that all learners have the opportunity to become digitally capable 
individuals. 

Goals
What do we want to 

achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

For all students at Normanby 
School to be Digital Citizens

Educate our students on digital 
citizenship by teaching through role 
play, giving scenarios on situations 
they might come across. 
Have high expectations of our 
students and their device usage. 
Unpack our digital device agreement - 
put this into student language across 
the whole school.

Students will demonstrate 
effective use of school devices. 
Students will understand what is 
safe online and they will be quick 
to tell an adult if they feel unsafe 
or see something wrong.

Integrate the new digital 
technologies curriculum across 
our school

1. Computational thinking
2. Design and develop 

digital outcomes

1. Computational thinking

Developing confidence in coding - 
understanding digital algorithms and 
decode by problem solving

Explore as a staff what we would like 
this to look like in our school.
Provide PD to staff around the basics 
of coding
Install age appropriate apps
Lead teacher could spend time in all 
classes developing a plan with the 
teacher that suits each classroom 
environment.

2. Design and develop digital 
outcomes

Design on what digital outcomes we 
would like to see in our school. 
Students can make presentations on 
slides, videos etc.
Collaborative creations and 
challenges on Minecraft Education 
Edition.
Integrate other curriculum areas into 
our outcomes

Students will be confident doing 
basic digital algorithms and 
decoding.

Students will be able to 
understand basic digital 
terminology

Students will be able to explain 
and justify the choices they 
make in coding.

Student will have a ‘toolbox’ full 
of ideas on how to create digital 
outcomes



                
   
 Wellbeing 

Objective: 
To enhance wellbeing by developing a school culture so akonga can successfully 
participate in learning and contribute to the community.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

Wellbeing is important to learners, and for 
learning. We know that tamariki are best able 
to learn at school if they are feeling safe and 
secure and their basic needs such as food, 
warmth, and nurturing relationships are met.

We know that a change journey takes time, 
persistence, and support. A holistic view of 
wellbeing and core values drive school 
actions. Our actions need to be underpinned 
by core values and beliefs about learning. A 
holistic view of learner and whānau wellbeing 
and learning will help to drive our strategic 
goals.  We know that, if the student and their 
whānau were well, then the student would be 
able to turn their attention to learning. We also 
know that if a student’s health and wellbeing 
needs are not being met—for example, if a 
child came to school having had a hard start to 
the day—then these needs have to be 
attended to before the child could be expected 
to engage in classroom learning.

Staff also know that if a child does not feel 
they belong at school and their identity is not 
valued they would be less likely to learn. As a 
result of these beliefs, we are on a journey that 
is leading us to review and improve or develop 
approaches that aim to continue to foster 
students’ wellbeing, belonging, and sense of 
identity. 

Use the Te Whare Tapa Wha 
Model as our school basis when 
considering overall wellbeing: 
physical (taha tinana), mental and 
emotional (taha hinengaro), social 
(taha whānau), and spiritual (taha 
wairua)



                
   
 Wellbeing 

Objective: 
To enhance wellbeing by developing a school culture so akonga can successfully 
participate in learning and contribute to the community.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

We already have a range of actions at a 
schoolwide level that support wellbeing. Some 
of our current key messages will continue to 
be developed in 2022:

● Whanaungatanga (good relationships) 
provides a foundation for many other 
school actions that foster wellbeing. 
Students, whānau, and teachers view 
themselves as belonging to a large 
whānau. 

● Shared school values that relate to 
wellbeing (e.g., caring, inclusion, 
diversity, identity) show students, 
whānau, and staff that their wellbeing 
is important.

● The celebration of diversity and 
making culture visible and important 
will foster identity and wellbeing for all 
students. Māori students’ identity is 
affirmed when our school values te 
reo Māori and tikanga, and we put 
kapa haka in a central place in the 
curriculum.

● Manaakitanga within the classroom is 
supported through employing staff 
who are skilled at building 
relationships with students and 
whānau. A tau or calm environment 
helps communication.

● We take time to know who our 
students are, we find ways to foster 
their passions and leadership 
capabilities, and have high 
expectations for all students and staff.



                
   
 Wellbeing 

Objective: 
To enhance wellbeing by developing a school culture so akonga can successfully 
participate in learning and contribute to the community.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

As a school we are wanting to reflect on the 
processes we already have in place to help 
us hear from our tamariki about:

● the things that impact on their 
wellbeing.

● ways wellbeing challenges could be 
addressed.

● new ways of supporting their 
wellbeing.

● different ways our school gets to 
know students’ identities and 
interests.

● how our students’ cultural identities 
are valued and sustained at school.

We are all on a journey to deepen our 
understanding of Te Tiriti and our obligations 
as good Treaty partners. This journey is 
raising our critical consciousness about the 
existence of institutional and structural 
racism and the need for schools to be active, 
anti-racist champions of diversity. We are 
deeply committed to acting on our obligations 
to Te Tiriti and making conscious decisions to 
make language, culture, identity, and place a 
visible and important part of school life. We 
are prioritising whanaungatanga and values 
that emphasise wellbeing as a necessary 
precursor to learning. We are aiming to 
increase our understanding that the purpose 
of education is not to assimilate Māori to a 
Western idea of achievement but to support 
learning in a holistic sense, and in a way that 
affirms and supports culture, language, and 
identity for ALL. 

All teachers to complete a wellbeing at 
school teacher survey. Unpack what 
the data tells us and set goals to 
improve overall wellbeing. To carry out 
in term 3 2021 and use the data to set 
goals for 2022. 

Highlighted in the data:
● We need to have effective 

systems in place for students 
to provide social support to 
their support (eg tuakana/ 
teina, buddies, peer mediation)

● We need a school wide 
approach that involves 
students dealing with conflict 
and deciding solutions.

● We need to provide specific 
PLD that helps staff to to 
recognise the four different 
types of bullying behaviours, 
and the difference between 
violence and bullying. 



                
   
 Wellbeing 

Objective: 
To enhance wellbeing by developing a school culture so akonga can successfully participate in 
learning and contribute to the community.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure success? 

Highlighted in the data:
● To support our students to develop 

pro-social culture and strategies such 
as including others who are being left 
out, standing up for others and for 
themselves, ignore and walk away 
from people who are hassling them.

● We need to run sessions for parents 
and whanau about ways they can 
support students to relate well to 
others eg. conflict resolutions, 
restorative conversations. 

● To seek and encourage active 
whanau voice about learning  - eg to 
support curriculum and local 
curriculum ie. What skills or 
knowledge can you contribute to 
student learning. 

● Explore ways to reflect our student 
cultures in school life eg. powhiri to 
welcome new students, practice local 
tikanga

● Creating an environment 
that is safe, inclusive and 
provides a sense of 
belonging and wellbeing

● Identifying and responding to 
issues of 
vulnerability,celebrating 
diversity and differences.

● Emphasising the importance 
of kindness and resilience 
and demonstrating healthy 
relationships with others

● Taking an inclusive approach 
to working with all children, 
staff and whānau.



                
   
 Wellbeing 

Objective: 
To enhance wellbeing by developing a school culture so akonga can successfully 
participate in learning and contribute to the community.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure 

success? 

Our akonga will continue to develop the skills 
and key competencies so as to:

● Demonstrate initiative
● Be adaptable and resilient
● Aspire to be the best they can 
● Have an emphasis on creativity and 

innovation
● Be self-managers and self-regulators
● Articulate, share, and discuss their 

learning journey with others
● Affect positive change
● Be risk takers
● Celebrate and support the learning of 

others
● Focus on solutions and the process 

needed to reach them
● Be proud of their achievements: It is 

okay to shione
● Be humanitarians by being motivated 

to solve social problems. 



                
   
 Wellbeing 

Objective: 
To enhance wellbeing by developing a school culture so akonga can successfully participate in 
learning and contribute to the community.

Goals
What do we want to achieve?

Action Plan
How will we do it? 

Evaluation 
How will we measure success? 

All students in Puanga Hub to complete a 
wellbeing at school student survey. Unpack 
what the date tells us and set goals to 
improve overall wellbeing. 

Units of work - learning about what is 
wellbeing? 
Help to develop strong sense of identity.
Who are we are Normanby?

● Link with local curriculum
● Community partnership
● Attendance rates
● Access community members / 

businesses

Active Healthy Learning - a more inclusive 
version of sport and PE in our School. We 
want all of our tamariki to feel included and 
inspire them to take risks and step up to 
challenges offered to them. We want our 
tamariki to feel proud of their effort and 
strive to succeed in sport and PE.

Encourage all students to participate in 
school sports. Teach games and skills 
that everyone can feel success at. 
Create opportunities for tamariki to try 
new physical activities (eg Kayaking at 
camp).
The water festival and tabloid sports are 
two ways we make physical activities 
inclusive.
Adding obstacles into our school cross 
country adds another interesting aspect 
for those who don’t enjoy running.

Students will feel motivated to 
participate and try their hardest in 
school events and less students 
will be ‘sick’ on event days.
Students will be more likely to be 
active in their play time and 
outside of school if we can teach 
them games and skills that they 
enjoy.
Students will want to invite their 
whanau to events.

Pivot Tool - Create a strong sense of 
wellbeing with our students. Target areas 
will be identified and then taught in our 
school

Students in Puanga are to complete a 
check-in survey each week to give 
feedback on their wellbeing - we are 
working alongside the Kahui Ako to learn 
how to unpack the data we generate 
from this and how we can use it to have 
a more positive impact on student 
wellbeing in our school. In 2023 moving 
forward we will only have the year 5 and 
6 students participating in this as we 
found the year 3 and 4 students had 
limited understanding around some of 
the questions.

When we unpack and use the data 
gained from this we can link in 
areas that need working on into 
our PB4L and RBL practices. It will 
also be important to explore and 
share the successes we have from 
the data.

Pause Breathe Smile
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END-YEAR DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

I am pleased to share that we have seen some good progress this year. We have not yet 
reached our target of 70% of our students meeting at or above the curriculum level for their 
year group, BUT, we are pleased with the value added to their learning, as well as the 
accelerated learning for many of our students who are at risk. We also need to take into account 
the very large number of students who are on our special needs register who require substantial 
intervention support. 

This year all of our staff have worked incredibly hard to improve their own pedagogical and 
content knowledge along with developing effective teaching strategies to improve outcomes for 
our students. Obviously COVID and attendance at school has interrupted some of this progress, 
however, in these times we have felt that we made a positive impact on the overall wellbeing of 
our community. 

Further in my report you will see detailed analysis of the Reading, Writing and Maths data for 
2021 as well as comparisons and a narrative about what the data tells us along with next steps 
for 2022. Please see a summary of the data set out below:
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1. END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

Goal One: Our Students
To provide our students with a range of learning opportunities to be life-long learners. 

Goal Two: Our Staff
To develop professional capability, always aiming for effectiveness and excellence.

Year 0-6 Literacy Assessment Data

Our achievement target in Literacy (Reading and Writing) is for 70% of all students to be AT or 
ABOVE the expected curriculum level. Collection of evidence is ongoing. Teachers use a range of 
information and assessments to track the progress and achievement of all students in their class. 

In writing these include: 

● e-asTTle Writing samples (two per year) 
● unassisted writing samples (two per year) 
● conferencing and learning conversations 
● observation of skills and strategies
● tracking of writing learning goals on Hero
● progress on spelling/structured literacy programmes  

In reading these include: 

● Regular ‘Running Records’ up to Level 20 (an assessment of fluency and decoding skills and 
strategies that a child can use independently)

● e-asTTle Reading test (two per year)
● Assessment Resource Bank (ARBs) from Level 21 onwards (an assessment of comprehension 

skills and strategies that a child can use independently)
● conferencing and learning conversations 
● observation of skills and strategies during guided/instructional reading sessions
● tracking of reading learning goals
● progress with sight word knowledge/structured literacy  
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1. END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

Our student management system, Hero, allows teachers to enter data and evidence into the system 
continuously throughout the year. There are two data time-points, mid-year (1st July) and end of 
year (1st December). Teachers engage in regular moderation meetings where we collaboratively 
examine evidence of progress and achievement of every individual student in the school. Using this 
evidence, teachers are able to form an ‘Overall Teacher Judgement’ of achievement levels and 
manually input this into the system.

The end of year achievement levels are presented in this report. 

Our Year 0-1 cohort data is excluded from this data set. In Year 0-1 100% of students are either AT or 
ABOVE expected achievement levels in literacy (early Level 1- at Level 1). 

Year 2-6 Analysis Group (as at 1/12/22)

● There are 157 students currently enrolled at Normanby School.
● 40 students are in the Year 0-1 cohort and are excluded from the analysis narrative below.
● 5 students are also excluded from this data analysis as they have joined our school during 

term 4 and teachers need time to ascertain and confirm the levels these children are 
achieving.

● 1 other student is excluded from this data analysis as her learning goals sit outside the NZ 
Curriculum (this child is non-verbal and is on the ASD spectrum).

● 2 children are excluded from data as they are transitioning to a new school and have not 
attended during term 4.

● This gives us a total of 109 students in the Year 2-6 analysis group.
● 57 of the 109 Year 2-6 students (52%) are currently on the Learning Support register or are 

receiving, or have recently received, additional learning support.* 15 students in this group 
have Individual Education Plans in place and are supported in other ways by classroom 
teachers, support staff and outside agencies.
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END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022 CONTINUED

Year 2-6 Reading Analysis

In total:

● 73 students (67%) in Year 2-6 are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New 
Zealand Curriculum achievement levels in Reading, leaving 36 students (33%) 
currently working towards expected levels.

● 33 of our male students (63% of all males) and 40 of our female students (70% of all 
females) are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New Zealand Curriculum 
achievement levels in Reading. For our girls this is up from just 55% mid-year and it now 
means that this particular group of students have reached our achievement target of 
70% or more in Reading.
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END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022 CONTINUED

Year 2-6 Reading Analysis

● 36 of our 56 Maori students (64% of all Maori students) and 37 of our NZE/Other 
students (70% of all NZE/Other students) are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New 
Zealand Curriculum achievement levels in Reading and have now met our achievement 
target of 70%

● Of the students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 36 of the 73 (49%) identify as Maori. 
This illustrates that our Maori students are progressing and achieving at a rate that 
matches our non-Maori students which is not typical of other schools in our cluster. This 
has been discussed and recognised by the Kahui Ako data analysis group (across 10 
schools).

● Of the students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 37 of the 73 (51%) are NZE/Other.
● Of the 36 Maori students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 16 are male and 20 are 

female.
● Of the 37 NZE/Other students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 17 are male and 20 are 

female.
● Of all the students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 33 of the 73 (45%) are male and 40 

of the 73 (55%) are female. This shows that our girls are performing slightly better than 
boys in Reading.

● Of the 36 students who are currently working towards expected levels, 22 have been 
involved in individual or small group intervention programmes this year. 13 students in 
this group have Individual Education Plans in place and are supported in other ways by 
classroom teachers, support staff and outside agencies.

When digging deeper into this data set we can say:

● Our Year 2’s have made some wonderful progress in this second half of the year and we 
now have 80% (20/25) achieving AT or ABOVE the expected curriculum level. Our 
target has been met. 16 students in this group were targeted for intervention support 
and, alongside a quality classroom reading programme, this has had a huge impact on 
their progress and achievement.  5 students in this cohort are still working towards the 
expectation and all have been involved in intervention programmes and will continue to 
be targeted for additional learning support or differentiation in 2023. 
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END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022 CONTINUED

Year 2-6 Reading Analysis

● The Year 3 cohort have also made impressive progress resulting in 74% achieving AT or 
ABOVE the expected curriculum level. Again, our target has been met. 4 of the 6 
students not meeting the expectation have had intervention support this year. The other 
2 students have an Individual Education Plan in place.
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END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022 CONTINUED

Year 2-6 Reading Analysis

● The Year 4 cohort continue to perform well with 75% (18/24) achieving AT or ABOVE 
expected levels, leaving just 6 students in this group still working towards. Our target 
has been met. All 6 have been targeted for additional learning support. 5 of these 
students have an Individual Education Plan in place.

● 12 of our 23 (52%) Year 5’s are achieving AT or ABOVE in reading and of the 11 who are 
working towards, 2 have been targeted for intervention support and 3 have an Individual 
Education Plan in place. For the remaining 6 students who are under-achieving, 
teachers will continue to differentiate within classroom programmes to meet their specific 
needs and find additional resources and teaching approaches to promote accelerated 
progress.
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END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022 CONTINUED

Year 2-6 Reading Analysis

● 6 of our 14(43%) of Year 6’s are achieving AT or ABOVE in reading. 57% (8/14) of our 
Year 6 cohort are under-achieving. 6 of these students have been involved in 
intervention programmes already this year and teachers will continue to target and 
differentiate for these students in their classroom programmes. 6 Students in this cohort 
have an Individual Education Plan (IEP) in place.
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END-YEAR LITERACY DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022 CONTINUED

Year 2-6 Reading Analysis

● Year 2-6 Reading - Ongoing Monitoring
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 

In total: 

● 66 students (61%) in Year 2-6 are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New 
Zealand Curriculum achievement levels in Writing, leaving 43 students (39%) 
currently working towards expected levels. This is a slight improvement on 
mid-year results but still some way off reaching our target of 70% At/Above.

● 27 of our male students (52% of all males) and 39 of our female students (69% of all 
females) are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New Zealand Curriculum 
achievement levels in Writing. We can see that our males are still sitting slightly behind 
our females in writing achievement.

● 35 of our Maori students (62% of all Maori students) and 28 of our NZE/Other students 
(58% of all NZE/Other students) are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New Zealand 
Curriculum achievement levels in Writing. Again, we are ‘bucking the trend’ in terms of 
our Maori student achievement - we have more Maori students achieving AT or ABOVE 
in Writing than non-Maori.
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 
● Of the 66 students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 35 (53%) identify as Maori and 31 

(47%) are NZE/Other. Again, this illustrates that our Maori students are progressing and 
achieving at a rate that matches our non-Maori students which is not typical of other 
schools in our cluster. This has been discussed and recognised by the Kahui Ako data 
analysis group (across 10 schools).

● Of the 35 Maori students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 14 are male and 21 are 
female.

● Of the 28 NZE/Other students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 13 are male and 18 are 
female.

● Of all the 66 students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 27 (41%) are male and 39  
(59%) are female.This data illustrates that our female students are achieving slightly 
better than male students in Writing.

● Of the 43 students who are currently working towards expected levels, 22 have been 
involved in individual or small group intervention programmes this year. 13 students in 
this group have Individual Education Plans in place and are supported in other ways by 
classroom teachers, support staff and outside agencies.

When digging deeper into this data set we can say:

● Our Year 2’s are achieving well in writing (100% AT or ABOVE expected levels) and have 
met our target. We are hopeful that this will continue into Year 3. As always, teachers will 
need to be mindful of the jump in expectations and will target those students in their 
classes who will require extra support to continue to develop the writing skills and 
knowledge necessary to shift them all into the end of Level 1 and into early Level 2. 
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 
● The Year 3 cohort sees 61% meeting expectations.  6 of the 9 students not meeting the 

expectation have had intervention support this year. 2 students have a current Individual 
Education Plan.

● The Year 4 cohort have met our school target with 88% achieving the expectation.  All 
3 students not meeting the expectation have Individual Education Plans in place.
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 
● The majority of our Year 5’s (15/23) and Year 6’s (8/14) are under-achieving in writing 

although we do see a slight improvement in the number of students who are reaching 
the expectation. 7 students in these two year groups have an Individual Education Plan 
in place. 
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 

Year 2-6 Writing - Ongoing Monitoring
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 

Comments

In general this year we have seen an upward trend in our literacy achievement data. Reading in 
particular has seen some significant shifts, particularly within our Year 2 and 3 cohorts. In 
Writing our Year 4 and Year 6 cohorts have made pleasing gains. However, we are very aware 
that we still have approximately a third of students not achieving at the expected NZC level for 
their age and stage in Reading and Writing.

To maintain close monitoring of student achievement in literacy, teachers will continue to use 
assessment data to evaluate student progress across Reading and Writing and target those 
students who are currently working towards as well as those who are considered to be ‘at risk’ 
of falling into the working towards category. These are the students who we monitor closely 
during team and co-construction monitoring meetings. Planning will cater for the needs of all 
students by differentiating learning tasks and utilising LA support effectively.

In 2023 we will continue to strive to deliver quality learning programmes in Reading and Writing 
and further improve achievement outcomes for our learners. We will do this by:

● Clearly articulating for students the purpose for their reading and writing - it needs to be 
authentic and relevant to them and their whanau in order to increase motivation and 
engagement. Literacy programmes will include a range of approaches and will see 
students reading and writing across the curriculum.

● Gather and analyse student voice regularly as part of the observation and impact 
coaching cycle. Teachers empower students to talk about their own learning. This is a 
crucial aspect of the RbL profile which enables teachers and students themselves to 
monitor progress and the impact of the processes of learning. These practices can then 
be modified accordingly to meet the needs of students.

● Regularly monitor and track the achievement of learning goals, knowing that students 
need to be able to demonstrate literacy skills and strategies independently and 
consistently, across a range of text types, before it is considered to be secure and 
marked as achieved.

● Teachers are to know the learning progressions in reading and writing and work 
collaboratively to ensure learning goals are included appropriately. 

● Continue to set high expectations of our teachers and students in the teaching and 
learning of reading and writing. 
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 

Comments

● Continue to allow time for students to practice and use taught literacy skills with 
increasing independence.

● Maintain Relationship-Based Learning practices 
● In 2023 Olivia Williamson (Year 1-2) will be supported by Tina Johnson (BSLA Facilitator, 

RTLit) as she begins her training in the ‘Better Start Literacy Approach’ (BSLA) and 
programme implementation in Room 7. Shelley Whyte will continue to use BSLA as her 
main approach to the teaching of literacy in the new entrant classroom.

● Classes will continue to use a structured approach to the teaching of phonics and 
decoding/encoding (how we break words into parts so we can read and write them 
easily).

● Teachers who have had professional development in the ‘Teaching for Writing Success’ 
with Dr. Helen Walls from Massey University will implement techniques and strategies 
that support a structured approach to teaching children how to write successfully. Her 
approach focuses heavily of self-regulation, requiring students to be conscious of their 
purpose for writing, the strategies they need, and being able to continually re-read and 
revise the developing text in line with that purpose. A scope and sequence of 
compositional goals is provided, from simply saying a sentence before attempting to 
record it at ‘Stage 1’, to learning how to write a complex sentence to describe a cause 
and effect relationship at ‘Stage 4’. Writing is a very complex process and there are 
many sub-skills to be learnt along the way!

As always, we need to recognise the large number of students needing additional learning 
support in our school - these numbers have a huge impact on our overall achievement data. 
Our Learning Assistants continue to provide 1:1, small group and roaming support of 
independent learners in all classes as well as delivering learning support programmes to 
students who struggle to reach expected levels of achievement on a daily basis (HPP, 
Language Learning Intervention programme, sight/heart words, 5+, 7+, Quick 60). The data 
paints a very clear picture of the absolute necessity for LAs to be in our classrooms. The 
number of students requiring additional learning support is so great that the effectiveness of a 
single classroom teacher to improve learning outcomes for all learners would be a mammoth 
task. The teachers of students on these programmes continue to notice a positive impact on 
participants’  confidence, fluency and progress. 
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Year 2-6 Writing Analysis 

Comments

Thank you once again to all our hard-working staff for their ongoing commitment to improving 
learning outcomes for our students, we thank Janelle for her leadership and commitment to 
supporting teachers and students, and for advocating for their needs, and we thank the Board 
for your ongoing support of how we endeavour to achieve our strategic goals.

Jude Sklenars
6/12/22

*Additional learning support may include outside agency involvement such as Speech Language Therapists, Resource Teacher 
of Learning and Behaviour (RTLB), Resource Teacher of Literacy (RTLit), Ongoing Resourcing Support (ORS), or Public Health 
Nurse care. Learning support programmes provided in school may include Quick 60, FivePlus, Talk to Learn, Early Words, and 
Individual Education Plans (I.E.Ps).



    

AOV continued
Mathematics

65

END-YEAR MATHS  DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

Goal One: Our Students
To provide our students with a range of learning opportunities to be life-long learners. 

Goal Two: Our Staff
To develop professional capability, always aiming for effectiveness and excellence.

Year 2-6 Mathematics Assessment Data

At the beginning of 2022 we were supported by our principal, lead team and the Normanby School Board to 

implement Maths - No problem! It has been a journey of learning and changing pedagogy across our entire 

teaching team. As part of this journey we have been able to spread our expertise across the school and, 

through PLD, coaching, leadership and trust, we now know that all of our teachers are effective and capable 

maths teachers with a high level of expertise. We are also well placed to support those teachers who are new 

to Normanby in 2023 to join our MNP journey.

We would like to thank Janelle, the leadership team and the Board for supporting us and trusting us as we 

navigated changes in goal sets and retaining historical data. I would also like to thank the whole Normanby 

team for being willing to trust that the right decision had been made and for the effort and commitment that 

has been put in by all. The impact after only one year of MNP is impressive as you will see in the following 

data. 
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END-YEAR MATHS  DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

The key goals as stated in our Strategic Plan for Maths:

To strengthen teachers’ capability for effective pedagogical and content knowledge of  the Maths 
curriculum to improve achievement and engagement. This will result in accelerated progress for all 
students, with 75% achieving the benchmark for their age in Mathematics. 

● To use the RbL observation tool and  impact coaching to provide teachers with evidence of 
effective teaching practice in Mathematics

● Students to be able to articulate and explain their learning and thinking in Maths
● To develop students self-efficacy and a growth mindset in mathematics
● For students to become mathematical problem-solvers
● For students to build their capability to work together and learn cooperatively
● Deliver an engaging and exciting mathematics curriculum
● Teachers to have excellent pedagogical content knowledge i.e understanding mathematical 

learning progressions, know what effective teaching looks like and sounds like, be effective 
question askers for facilitating mathematical discussions.  i.e RbL, strategies

● For students to access learning at the level of their current year group
● For whanau to have clear reporting about where their child is working in Maths and how the 

‘Maths - No problem’ is working within our school

This data set does not include evidence from the Year 0-1 cohort. Collection of evidence is 
ongoing. Teachers use a range of information and assessments to track the progress and 
achievement of all students in their class. In Maths these include: 

● JAM (Junior Assessment in Mathematics) Years 1-2
● EasTTle - years 3-6
● PAT - years 3-6 
● Chapter, mid-year and end of year review tests
● Students independent work books and journals
● Observation of skills and strategies
● Tracking of Maths learning goals
● Conferencing and discussion

Our student management system, Hero, allows teachers to enter data and evidence into the system 
continuously throughout the year. There are two data time-points, mid-year (1st July) and end of year 
(1st December). This year we are not using the built-in ‘best-fit’ function of Hero and instead teachers 
engage in twice-termly moderation meetings where collaboratively we examine evidence of progress 
and achievement of every individual student in the school. Using this evidence, teachers are able to 
form an ‘Overall Teacher Judgement’ of achievement level’s and manually input this into the system.
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END-YEAR MATHS  DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

All students, Years 2-6 - End of year - as at 1st December, 2022
● There are 157 students currently enrolled at Normanby School.
● 40 students are in the Year 0-1 cohort and are excluded from the analysis narrative below.
● 5 students are also excluded from this data analysis as they have joined our school during term 4 

and teachers need time to ascertain and confirm the levels these children are achieving.
● 1 other student is excluded from this data analysis as her learning goals sit outside the NZ 

Curriculum (this child is non-verbal and is on the ASD spectrum).
● 2 children are excluded from data as they are transitioning to a new school and have not 

attended during term 4.
● This gives us a total of 109 students in the Year 2-6 analysis group.
● 57 of the 109 year 2-6 students (52%) are currently on the Learning Support register or are 

receiving, or have recently received, additional learning support* 15 students in this 
group have Individual Education Plans in place and are supported in other ways by 
classroom teachers, support staff and outside agencies. 

Year 2-6 Maths Analysis
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END-YEAR MATHS  DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

In total:

77 students (71%) in Year 2-6 are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New Zealand 
Curriculum achievement levels in Maths, leaving 29% currently working towards 
expected levels. (This is an increase from 66 students (56%) in our mid year data.) 

● 40 of our male students (77% of all males) and 37 of our female students (65% of all 
females) are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New Zealand Curriculum 
achievement levels in Maths.

● 37 of our Maori students (66% of all Maori students) and 40 (75% of all NZE/Other) of 
our NZE/Other students are achieving AT or ABOVE the expected New Zealand 
Curriculum achievement levels in Maths.

● Of the students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 37 of the 77 (48%) identify as Maori.
● Of the students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 40 of the 77 (52%) are NZE/Other.
● Of the 37 Maori students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 19 are male and 18 are 

female.
● Of the 37 NZE / Other students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 20 are male and 17 are 

female.
● Of the students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 40 of the 77 (52%) are male.
● Of the students who are achieving AT or ABOVE, 37 of the 77 (48%) are female.



    

AOV continued
Mathematics

69

END-YEAR MATHS  DATA ANALYSIS - DECEMBER, 2022

When digging deeper into this data set we can say:

Our Year 2 group have continued to make fantastic progress and have exceeded our 
strategic goal, with 20 students (80%) achieving at or above the expected milestone. There 
are 5 students of concern who are working within a year of the expectation. These students will 
need to be supported by their teachers and classroom routines and programmes to accelerate 
their learning next year. These students have all been identified for learning support across the 
curriculum. 

Our Year 3 group have also made fantastic progress and have exceeded our strategic goal. 
19 students (83%) are achieving at or above the expected milestone. There are 4 students who 
are not meeting the expectation. 2 of these students are working within a year of the 
expectation and will require targeted support and acceleration in 2023. The other 2 students 
have individualised learning support and differentiation to enable them to reach their full 
potential.
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Our Year 4 cohort have also made fantastic progress. Having moved from 37% achieving the 
expectation mid year to 71% achieving or exceeding the expectation at the end of the year. In 
this group 17 students (71%) are at or above. 5 students have progressed to working within one 
year of the expectation through targeted support and differentiation. These students have 
reached their own potential for acceleration and can continue to close the gap through 
continued targeted support and acceleration in 2023 - 3 of these students have Individualised 
Education Plans. 2 further students are on Individualised Education Plans and receive 
additional support to access an adapted curriculum.

Our Year 5 group also made great progress. In our mid year data 10 students (42%) of year 5 
students were achieving the expected milestone. End of year data now has 16 year 5 students 
(71%) of these students achieving or exceeding the expectation.  3 of these students have 
Individualised Education Plans.
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Our Year 6 group have been a cohort of concern throughout their time at our school. 5 of our 14 
year 6 students (36%) are meeting the expected milestone. 6 of these students have 
individualised education plans. This group has made progress over the year however, the 
majority have not been able to close the gap enough to catch up to curriculum expectations.

Year 2-6 Maths - Ongoing Monitoring END 2022
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Comments:

Making the investment into Maths - no problem as a quality resource has proven to be a great 
decision. We are incredibly proud of the success tamariki are having with it. Again I want to 
acknowledge the work of the staff and leadership in making the implementation a success, as 
without the people the resource alone would not be enough.

It is incredibly pleasing to see how well our year 3 cohort have progressed as this tends to be a 
year where we see the challenge of moving into a new curriculum level having an impact.  We 
can also see that the year 5 cohort are well positioned to take on the challenge of a brand new 
year 6 programme next year.

As we move into 2023 we will have some new staff to upskill and train into the way we deliver 
maths at Normanby. We have enough staff who have experienced this year to keep the 
momentum going and to assist our new teachers. Time will be set aside for these new teachers 
to receive the same level of support to get started as we did this year.  

Teachers will have a bigger focus on providing differentiation, including accelerating learners 
who need it and enriching our high achievers in 2023. Our PLD focus will be around 
encouraging students to dig deeper into representing their thinking and looking for patterns and 
trends in numbers to explain why what they are learning works.

I would like to thank Janelle and the Board for supporting us with having a learning assistant 
available for maths in every class. This has been a huge asset in supporting children who need 
a little extra time or support on a problem without halting the whole class learning. These 
people are so valuable in our classrooms!

Tash Campbell
TIC Maths, 
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PAT MATHS DATA

The following report has been compiled for us by the Kahui Ako Maths PLD provider. It is based on 
testing that the students have sat at two time points (end 2021 and end 2022 for years 4-6. Term 1 
and Term 4 of 2022 for year 3s.) Although this is only one piece of evidence the results and report 
shows similar trends to our overall teacher judgment results and supports our data.

The following data pertains from comparison between the Term 4 PAT Maths test from 2021 and 
the Term 4 PAT Maths test from 2022.

The following table was used to analyse the data:

The average scores for each year level are also shown in the table. 

Students' expected shift in scale scores are shown in the table. Any shift in scale scores greater
than this is considered accelerated progress.
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The following report is analysed in Year Groups - showing average score and showing average 
shift in scale score.  The expected average scale score and the expected average scale shift score 
are recorded for comparison.  The Year 3 students scale score shift is from Term 1 to Term 4 - 
which is ¾ of the expected year shift (¾ of 9.2 = 6.9).

The Effect Size indicates whether or not sufficient progress has been made across the 
achievement of students from the end of 2021 through to the end of 2022.  Only students who 
tested in both Term 4 2021 and Term 4 2022 are included in this data.

What does this mean?
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Analysis of Data per Year Group; Gender; Ethnicity:  

Year 3 
● Year 3 boys are, on average, achieving a higher scale score than girls.  
● Both boys and girls are above the national expected average scale score for Year 3 students. 
● Both boys and girls have made an average scale score shift greater than the expected scale 

score shift of 6.9.  Due to standard deviations girls are classified as making expected progress 
and boys accelerated.

● Māori boys are on average, achieving higher than the expected national average scale score, 
but this is slightly lower than their NZE peers.  The average scale score shift between Term 1 
and Term 4 for Māori boys is at expected progress, and the shift for Māori girls is classified as 
accelerated progress. Both NZE and Māori boys and girls are achieving lower than Other 
students.

● Māori girls are achieving lower than Māori boys, but are achieving slightly higher than their 
NZE peers. 

● Girls are a cohort to monitor to ensure that they are achieving at a similar rate to boys.

Year 4 
● Year 4 boys and Year 4 girls are achieving at similar rates, both above the national expected 

average scale score for Year 4 students.  
● Boys and girls have made, on average, the expected scale score shift from the end of Year 3 to 

the end of Year 4.  
● Māori boys are achieving slightly lower than their NZE peers, but higher than the ‘other’ 

cohort.  Māori girls are achieving much lower than their NZE peers, with their average scale 
scores closer to the national expected average.

● Māori boys & Māori girls have made expected progress when comparing the shift in data 
from Term 4 2021 to Term 4 2022.  NZE girls have made accelerated progress.

● Year 4 Māori girls are a cohort for immediate support to ensure that they stay above the 
national expected average scale score.
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Year 5 
● Year 5 boys are achieving significantly higher than Year 5 girls.  Year 5 boys are achieving 

above the national expected average scale score, Year 5 girls are achieving below this 
average expected score.

● Māori boys are achieving slightly higher than their NZE peers, but Māori girls are achieving 
considerably lower than their NZE peers.  

● All cohorts have made expected average progress.
● Year 5 Māori girls are a cohort for immediate support.

Year 6  
● Our Year 6 students are achieving well below the national expected average scale score.  
● Girls are achieving slightly higher than boys and this is also true for our Māori girls achieving 

higher than our Māori boys.  Māori girls are achieving on par with their NZE peers, whereas 
Māori boys are lower than their NZE peers.  

● All cohorts have made expected average progress.
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Overall findings:  
● Time 1 testing (Term 1 2022 for Year 3 students & Term 4 2021 for Years 4, 5 & 6 students)  

showed that all Year groups were achieving lower than the National expected average scale 
score.

● Time 2 testing (Term 4 2022) shows that all cohorts except for our Year 6 group are now 
achieving above the national expected average scale score.

Overall findings:  
● Boys are achieving above the National average scale score in all year groups except for Year 

6.
● Girls are achieving above the national average scale score in Year 3 and Year 4 but dip below 

this in Year 5 and Year 6.
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Overall Findings:  
● The above graph shows a comparison between NZE boys & girls and Māori boys and girls 

compared to the National average scale score.
● Māori girls are achieving above expectations in Year 3,  at expectations in Year 4 and then 

below in Years 5 and Year 6.  
● The Year 5 Māori girls are achieving on average lower than the Year 4 national expected 

score and Year 6 girls are achieving lower than the Year 5 national expected score.
● NZE girls achieve above the national expected score in all year groups except for Year 6 

students.  These girls are achieving lower than the national expected score for Year 5 
students

● Māori boys are achieving above national expected scores in all year groups, except for Year 
6.  These year 6 boys are achieving in between Year 4 & Year 5 national expectations. 

● Year 5 Māori boys are achieving higher than all other cohorts and are achieving slightly 
higher than the Year 6 national expectations.  

● NZE boys are achieving above national expected scores in all year groups except for Year 6, 
where they are achieving at about a Year 5 level.
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FivePlus

In 2022, 15 students in total have accessed the FivePlus reading intervention programme, working 
one-on-one with a Learning Assistant to raise achievement in reading. Pre and post assessments 
include:

● Checking students’ ability to identify letters and letter sounds (Phoneme Identity)
● Reading of high frequency words in isolation (High Frequency Word Reading)
● Instructional Reading Level 

Below are the comparison graphs for entry and exit testing. 

This assessment is out of a total score of 54. Letter identification was not an area of weakness to 
begin with for most of these students with an average pre-intervention score of 52/54 compared 
with 54/54  post-intervention.
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The Burt Reading Test is the tool we use to assess students’ ability to read high frequency words in 
isolation. There are 110 words in the test ranging from ‘to’ to ‘phthisis’ with an associated age range 
from 5 years,3 months to 14 years, 3 months. Pre-intervention the average score was 18 (6 years, 1 
month). Post-intervention the average score was 30 (6 years, 9 months). This is equivalent to an 
average of 8 months accelerated progress over 8 weeks which is a great result.

We have also seen a huge improvement in instructional reading levels with all students moving up 
by at least 6 reading levels. One student has jumped up 14 reading levels!
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At the completion of the programme, ten of the 15 students were achieving AT expected curriculum 
levels. One of the students who was working TOWARDS expected level is now, 5 months post 
intervention,  achieving AT expected level. These results prove to us that FivePlus is an effective 
intervention and should continue to be implemented for any Year 2-3 students who have not made 
expected progress and are reading between L6 to L14, or for older students who are reading below 
L16.
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SevenPlus

In 2022, 13 students in total have accessed the SevenPlus reading intervention programme, working 
one-on-one with a Learning Assistant to raise achievement in reading. Pre and post assessments 
include:

● Reading of high frequency words in isolation (High Frequency Word Reading)
● Instructional Reading Level 

The Burt Reading Test is the tool we use to assess students’ ability to read high frequency words in 
isolation. There are 110 words in the test ranging from ‘to’ to ‘phthisis’ with an associated age range 
from 5 years,3 months to 14 years, 3 months. Pre-intervention the average score was 23 (6 years, 4 
month). Post-intervention the average score was 35 (7 years, 1 month). This is equivalent to an 
average of 9 months accelerated progress over 8 weeks which is a great result.

In terms of overall achievement in reading, four of the 13 are now AT expected level and the 
remaining seven are still working towards the expectation. Two of the original group have now left 
our school.

We are noticing over the time we have been using this intervention with older students that it is 
harder to shift them than it is the younger students. This reinforces the importance of catching them 
when they’re young and putting the support in place nice and early, before the achievement gap 
gets too big. We were thrilled to see four of these children make enough progress to catch up with 
their peers and succeed as readers.



    

AOV 
Intervention Programmes

83

           INTERVENTION PROGRAMMES

Quick 60

Since my last Quick 60 report in September, 3 more students have completed the Quick 60 
programme. One continues to work TOWARDS the expected curriculum level but the other two are 
now AT expectation.

I strongly recommend that resourcing is allocated to these programmes in 2023. Combined with 
effective classroom teaching, they have had a huge impact on the achievement of many of our 
students, particularly where we are able to catch them in Year 2-3. We know that the longer we 
wait, the less likely they are to close the gap and catch up to their peers. We have fantastic LAs who 
know these programmes very well now and are such an asset to our school and our tamariki. Thank 
you for your ongoing support for these students with additional learning needs.

Jude Sklenars
December 2022
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Learning Support Register
The Learning Support Register holds information for students that have any additional learning or 
behaviour requirements and/or interventions. The Learning support register on HERO is populating a 
group based on information added by the classroom teacher, leadership and/or the SENCO. We 
monitor students for a minimum of 18 months once identified which resets everytime we take an 
action such as an intervention or identify needs. 

We have broken this registar into three categories:

● Tier 1: 
Students identified as needing extra support by classroom teachers and curriculum leads. The 
Deputy Principal coordinates and supports intervention programmes for these students in 
this Tier in conjunction with classroom teachers and identifies students who may require Tier 
2 support.

● Tier 2:
Students have received previous in-school interventions and have been identified as requiring 
further intervention support from outside agencies (RTLB, Councillors or requiring an 
Individual Education Plan (IEP) and/ or have high health needs.The SENCO supports and/or 
corodrinates support alongside  our Learning Support Coordinator, Lead Team and outside 
agencies.

● Tier 3:
Students are identified as Tier 3 when support is in place from the Ministry of Education or 
Ongoing Resourcing Scheme. Support systems will also include elements of Tier 2, and are 
supported by the Principal.

T
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Current Learning Support Register: 
These students have been identified through classroom teacher observations and data analysis. They 
require monitoring and/or additional support. Teachers have allocated in class support from Teaching 
assistants. These have been allocated with guidance from Principal/Deputy Principal/Team 
Leader/SENCO for these students. When additional support is required referrals are then made to 
specialists for support.

T



    

AOV 
Special Needs

86

NORMANBY SCHOOL LEARNING SUPPORT REPORT  DECEMBER 2022

● Based on our current roll of 157 students, we currently have 44% of our students on the 
learning support register for learning and or behaviour.  

● Of our 157 enrolled students 24% are on our learning support register and identify as Maori
● Of our 157 enrolled students 20% are on our learning support register and identify as 

Non-Maori

T

● Based on our current roll of 157 students, we currently have 26% of our students on Tier 1 of 
the learning support register for learning and or behaviour.  

● Of our 157 enrolled students 13% are on our Tier 1 learning support register and identify as 
Maori

● Of our 157 enrolled students 13% are on our Tier 1 learning support register and identify as 
Non-Maori
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● Based on our current roll of 157 students, we currently have 18% of our students on Tier 2/3 of 
the learning support register for learning and or behaviour. 

● Of our 157 enrolled students 12% are on our Tier 2/3 learning support register and identify as 
Maori

● Of our 157 enrolled students 6% are on our Tier 2/3 learning support register and identify as 
Non-Maori

T
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Specialist Support 
These are students on the current register who have specific additional learning and behaviour needs 
and have been referred for additional support from an outside agency.

Please Note: 
The table below represents intervention or specialist support. In some cases students will be represented more than once 

as their needs change and develop into the next programme or when more than one agency is involved. 

T
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Individual Education Plans (IEP) and Individual Behaviour Plans (IBP)
Individual Education and Behaviour Plans are for all students whose learning requires additional 
support or for whom the curriculum requires continued adaptation. 

● 22/157 (14%) of Normanby School children require IEP and/or IBP currently
● Of these 22 students, 16 (73%) are Maori and 6 (27%) are non-Maori

SENCO Next Steps: 
Transition to new SENCO:

● All notes and information are available on our Hero database and Google Drive 
to ensure all details are up to date and can support a transition to a new 
SENCO.

● Liaising as needed has occurred with Jude Sklennars, Brenda Tosland (RTLB 
Liaison) and class teachers where applicable to ensure Learning Support next 
steps are carried out and continued through the staffing change.

Amy Boyd
SENCO (Special Education Needs Coordinator) 




